This is the accepted manuscript version of the contribution published as:

Gerbersdorf, S.U., Koca, K., de Beer, D., Chennu, A., Noss, C., **Risse-Buhl, U., Weitere, M.**, Eiff, O., Wagner, M., Aberle, J., Schweikert, M., Terheiden, K. (2020): Exploring flow-biofilm-sediment interactions: Assessment of current status and future challenges *Water Res.* **185**, art. 116182

The publisher's version is available at:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116182

Exploring flow-biofilm-sediment interactions: Assessment of current status and future challenges

Sabine Ulrike Gerbersdorf, Kaan Koca, Dirk deBeer, Arjun Chennu, Christian Noss, Ute Risse-Buhl, Markus Weitere, Olivier Eiff, Michael Wagner, Jochen Aberle, Michael Schweikert, Kristina Terheiden

 PII:
 S0043-1354(20)30719-3

 DOI:
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116182

 Reference:
 WR 116182

To appear in: Water Research

Received date:3 February 2020Revised date:19 June 2020Accepted date:13 July 2020

Please cite this article as: Sabine Ulrike Gerbersdorf, Kaan Koca, Dirk deBeer, Arjun Chennu, Christian Noss, Ute Risse-Buhl, Markus Weitere, Olivier Eiff, Michael Wagner, Jochen Aberle, Michael Schweikert, Kristina Terheiden, Exploring flow-biofilm-sediment interactions: Assessment of current status and future challenges, *Water Research* (2020), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116182

This is a PDF file of an article that has undergone enhancements after acceptance, such as the addition of a cover page and metadata, and formatting for readability, but it is not yet the definitive version of record. This version will undergo additional copyediting, typesetting and review before it is published in its final form, but we are providing this version to give early visibility of the article. Please note that, during the production process, errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

(c) 2020 Published by Elsevier Ltd.



Highlights

Flow-biofilm-sediment interactions in relation to biostabilization are reviewed.

This is supported by a joint workshop, testing feasibility of an integrated approach.

Development in optical tools and molecular approaches increased biofilm

understanding

Mechanical understanding of biostabilization have not been well understood.

Challenges include realism, scalability and methodological limitations.

odogic.

Exploring flow-biofilm-sediment interactions: Assessment of current status and future challenges Sabine Ulrike Gerbersdorf^{*, a, #}, Kaan Koca^{a, #}, Dirk deBeer^b, Arjun Chennu^{b, c}, Christian Noss^d, Ute Risse-Buhl^e, Markus Weitere^e, Olivier Eiff^f, Michael Wagner^g, Jochen Aberle^h, Michael Schweikertⁱ, Kristina Terheiden^a

^a University of Stuttgart, Institute for Institute for Modelling Hydraulic and Environmental Systems, Pfaffenwaldring 61, 70569 Stuttgart, Germany, Emails: sabine.gerbersdorf@iws.uni-stuttgart.de, kaan.koca@iws.uni-stuttgart.de, kristina.terheiden@iws.uni-stuttgart.de

^b Max Planck Institute for Marine Microbiology, Celsiusstraße 1, 28359 Bremen, Germany, Emails: dbeer@mpi-bremen.de, achennu@mpi-bremen.de

[°] Leibniz Center for Tropical Marine Research, Fahrenheitstraße 6, 28359 Bremen, Germany, Email: arjun.chennu@leibniz-zmt.de

^d University of Koblenz-Landau, Institute for Environmental Sciences, Fortstraße 7, 76829 Landau, Germany; Present address: Federal Waterways Engineering and Research Institute, Hydraulic Engineering in Inland Areas, Kußmaulstraße 17, 76187 Karlsruhe, Germany, Email: christian.noss@baw.de

^e Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ, Department of River Ecology, Brückstraße 3a, 39114 Magdeburg, Germany, Emails: ute.risse-buhl@ufz.de, markus.weitere@ufz.de

^t KIT Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute for Hydromechanics, Otto-Ammann Platz 1, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany, Email: olivier.eiff@kit.edu

⁹ KIT Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Engler-Bunte-Institute, Water Chemistry and Water Technology, Engler-Bunte-Ring 9a, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany, Email: michael.wagner@kit.edu

^h Technische Universität Braunschweig, Leichtweiß-Institute for Hydraulic Engineering and Water Resources, Beethovenstraße 51a, 38106 Braunschweig, Germany, Email: jochen.aberle@tu-braunschweig.de

¹ University of Stuttgart, Institute of Biomaterials and Biomolecular Systems, Pfaffenwaldring 57, 70569 Stuttgart, Germany, Email: michael.schweikert@bio.uni-stuttgart.de

*Corresponding author:

Email: sabine.gerbersdorf@mwk.bwl.de, Phone: +49 (0) 711 68564739

[#] = Both authors share the first authorship.

Abstract

Biofilm activities and their interactions with physical, chemical and biological processes are of great importance for a variety of ecosystem functions, impacting hydrogeomorphology, water quality and aquatic ecosystem health. Effective management of water bodies requires advancing our understanding of how flow influences biofilm-bound sediment and ecosystem processes and vice-versa. However, research on this triangle of flow-biofilm-sediment is still at its infancy. In this Review, we summarize the current state of the art and methodological approaches in the flow-biofilm-sediment research with an emphasis on biostabilization and fine sediment dynamics mainly in the benthic zone of lotic and lentic environments. Example studies of this three-way interaction across a range of spatial scales from cell (nm – μ m) to patch scale (mm – dm) are highlighted in view of the urgent need for interdisciplinary approaches. As a contribution to the review, we combine a literature survey with results of a pilot experiment that was conducted in the framework of a joint workshop to explore the feasibility of asking interdisciplinary questions. Further, within this workshop various observation and measuring approaches were tested and the quality of the achieved results was evaluated individually and in combination. Accordingly, the paper concludes by highlighting the following research challenges to be considered within the forthcoming years in the triangle of flow-biofilm-sediment:

 Establish a collaborative work among hydraulic and sedimentation engineers as well as ecologists to study mutual goals with appropriate methods. Perform realistic experimental studies to test hypotheses on flow-biofilm-sediment interactions as well as structural and mechanical characteristics of the bed.

- Consider spatially varying characteristics of flow at the sediment-water interface. Utilize combinations of microsensors and non-intrusive optical methods, such as particle image velocimetry and laser scanner to elucidate the mechanism behind biofilm growth as well as mass and momentum flux exchanges between biofilm and water. Use molecular approaches (DNA, pigments, staining, microscopy) for sophisticated community analyses. Link varying flow regimes to microbial communities (and processes) and fine sediment properties to explore the role of key microbial players and functions in enhancing sediment stability (biostabilization).
- Link laboratory-scale observations to larger scales relevant for management of water bodies. Conduct field experiments to better understand the complex effects of variable flow and sediment regimes on biostabilization.
 Employ scalable and informative observation techniques (e.g., hyperspectral imaging, particle tracking) that can support predictions on the functional aspects, such as metabolic activity, bed stability, nutrient fluxes under variable regimes of flow-biofilm-sediment.

Keywords

- 1. Biostabilization
- 2. Erosion threshold
- 3. Extracellular polymeric substances
- 4. Bacteria
- 5. Microphytobenthos
- 6. Hydrodynamics

Contents

Exploring flow-biofilm-sediment interactions: Assessment of current status and future	
challenges	1
1. Introduction	7
2. Methodology	11
<u>2.1 General approach</u>	11
2.2 Pilot experiment	12
2.3 Structure of the review	12
3. A view from above: Mutual flow – sediment/biofilm interactions	13
<u>3.1 Flow - Attachment - Colonization</u>	13
<u>3.2 Growth - Topography - Flow</u>	16
4. Entering the microbial city	18
4.1 Architecture and EPS Matrix	18
4.2 Microbial biomass and multitrophic relations	20
4.3 Microbial taxonomy (by microscope and molecular techniques)	22
Insights	22
<u>4.4 Mass transfer (towards, out of and within the biofilm)</u>	23
5. Mechanical stability of biofilm and its inhabited environment as one essential ecosyste	<u>m</u>
function	26
5.1 Biofilm functions for its inhabitants and for the ecosystem	26
5.2 The challenges with biofilm-induced mechanical stability	27
5.3 Single-cell approaches to determine adhesive forces	28
5.4 Structural visualization and mechanical strength at the mesoscale	29
5.5 Erosion vulnerability and adhesive capacity in sediment research	32
6. The gaps in hydromechanics, biofilm and sediment research and lessons to learn	34
7. Conclusions	41
8. Acknowledgements	42
9. References	10
	+J

1. Introduction

Microbial life in most water bodies grows in "biofilm", which are genetically diverse surface-attached aggregates of microorganisms (Archaea, Bacteria, Eukarya) (Flemming and Wuertz, 2019) that are wrapped in a self-produced matrix of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS). Aquatic biofilms are capable of colonizing various soft (e.g., sediment or soil surface) and hard (e.g., stone, plant, pipe or vessel surfaces) surfaces that exist across diverse environments, including streams and rivers (Battin et al., 2016), lakes (Zhang et al., 2020), estuarine (Vijsel et al., 2020) and marine (Yallop et al., 1994) waters, as well as drinking water distribution systems (Chan et al., 2019; Douterelo et al., 2019). Whether growing on mud (epipelic), sand (epipsammic), stone (epilithic) or plant (epiphythic), whether addressed as microphytobenthos (in shallow coastal waters, intertidal flats), microbial mat (among others, in habitats of hot springs, hypersaline ponds, groundwater) or periphyton (on any submerged surface in the aquatic habitat), all communities possess emergent features, such as production of EPS, tolerance towards external stresses, cell-cell communication and collective behaviour as well as synergetic use of nutrients that distinguish them as biofilm (Flemming et al., 2016; Flemming and Wingender, 2010; Flemming and Wuertz, 2019; Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015; West et al., 2007).

Biofilm lifestyle is distinctly different and more common than planktonic lifestyle, with an estimated 40-80% of cells contributing to the global biomass residing in biofilms (Flemming and Wuertz, 2019). The transition of one microbe from the planktonic to the biofilm lifestyle, and vice-versa, depends on a range of environmental conditions among which the local hydrodynamics are of paramount importance (Berke et al., 2008; McDougald et al., 2012; Wheeler et al., 2019). Hydrodynamics largely dictate initial "touch-down" and the residence time of the microbes on surfaces (Rusconi et al., 2014). When exceeding a certain hydrodynamic force or experiencing a hydraulic

retention time shorter than the doubling-time of the cells, the microbes will disperse again and leave the habitat. Those cells that still stick are selected towards stronger adherence, and the further biofilm development strongly shapes their adjacent physical and chemical surrounding in a reciprocal way (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015). Thereby, biofilm growth and its influence on the surrounding strongly depend on the microbial metabolic activity which leads to redox-relevant small-scale stratification and impacts large-scale biogeochemical budgets (Packman, 2013). However, these metabolic processes are determined by mass transfer in the water column and towards the biofilm, which is again controlled by hydrodynamics regulating nutrient supply to the microbes (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015). For a comprehensive review on the processes related to surface attachment and subsequent colonization, we refer readers to reviews by Berne et al. (2018), Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht (2015) and Tolker-Nielsen (2015).

When growing on sediment in the bed finer than about 2 mm (clay, silt, sand) (Statzner et al., 1999), biofilms also glue the sediment grains to each other through their EPS matrix (Jones, 2017; Paterson et al., 2018). This, in turn, alters the sediment-bed properties, e.g., density, morphology, size gradation (Fang et al., 2012; Gibbs, 1983, Huiming et al., 2011; Shang et al., 2014), and dynamics, e.g., erosion and transport (Banasiak et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2017; Droppo et al., 2015; Fang et al., 2017; Gerbersdorf et al., 2008; Malarkey et al., 2015; Righetti and Lucarelli, 2010; Vignaga et al., 2013) and, finally, the accumulation and transport of contaminants (Burns and Ryder, 2001; Förstner et al., 2004). The ability of biofilms to increase erosion thresholds by biological actions is an ecologically essential ecosystem function named "biostabilization" (de Brouwer et al., 2005; Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015; Passarelli et al., 2014; Roncoroni et al., 2019) and has been

reported to mediate sediment erosion, transport, deposition and consolidation (ETDC) cycle in aquatic ecosystems (Paterson et al., 2018). It should be noted that biostabilization can also occur through smoothing of the bed surface and therefore reduction of the hydraulic roughness, as observed over gravel-like hemispheres (Graba et al., 2010). These interactions of sediment and biofilm are critical to the biogeochemical processes at the entire ecosystem level (Packman, 2013). Along with their impact on nutrient fluxes (Battin et al., 2016; Falkowski et al., 2008; Madsen, 2011), biofilms possess further fundamental ecosystem services such as water self-purification (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015; Shannon et al., 2008) and they also regulate and mediate primary production and food web processes (Battin et al., 2008; Demars, 2019; Graba et al., 2013).

Such fundamental ecosystem processes and functions of the biofilms are determined by their biodiversity and community composition through the metabolic performance of involved microbial communities (Allan and Castillo, 2007; Besemer, 2015; Loreau et al., 2001). The physical structure, composition and diversity of the biofilms in aquatic ecosystems vary widely depending on the physical (e.g., grain size, porosity), chemical (e.g., sediment nutrient content), biological (e.g., growth rate, cell-cell communication) and environmental (e.g., light, temperature and flow regime) factors (Allan and Castillo, 2007; Stevenson et al., 1996) and processes (Leibold et al., 2004), including interactions with nutrient and organic matter cycling (Battin et al., 2016; Schiller et al., 2007), growth habitat (Salta et al., 2013; Wilhelm et al., 2014) as well as flow and bed topography (Battin, 2000; Risse-Buhl et al., 2017; Woodcock et al., 2013). Indeed, many biofilms have complex morphologies and can develop long, oscillating filamentous structures called streamers (Larned et al., 2011; Nikora,

2010), which not only alter flow dynamism and bed topography, but also mass transport near the bed.

The preceding higher-order effects induced by biofilm formation are of ever-changing nature (Battin et al., 2016) mainly due to complex reciprocal interactions between flow, biofilm and sediment (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015) and are also expected to change in a nontrivial way as a result of climate change (Piggott et al., 2015; Zeglin, 2015) and human alteration. However, our understanding of dynamic flowbiofilm-sediment processes nexus in natural water bodies which drive changes in ecosystem processes and functions remain still incomplete (Nikora, 2010; Packman, 2013; Paterson et al., 2018). In order to better manage our water bodies for the benefits of human society and ecosystem functioning as well as to support UN's Sustainable Development Goals, a better understanding of flow-biofilm-sediment interactions - that we call flow-biofilm-sediment triangle - is needed. Challenges include i) creating realistic experimental settings and utilizing a combination of tools and approaches to describe the reciprocal relationships between flow-biofilmsediment and associated mass transfer, which alters microbial processes and viceversa and ii) understanding the role of key microbial players (and processes) for biogeochemical and morphological processes (biostabilization) at the entire ecosystem level, and how organismal level functions can be linked to ecosystem functions. These challenges require acquisition of large bodies of information across various spatial scales by studying hydraulics, geomorphology and ecology as an integrated concept using advanced tools and approaches rather than viewing them as subordinately serving the other. The increasing needs for interdisciplinary approaches have been underlined by many recent studies (Battin et al., 2016;

Palmer and Ruhi, 2019; Paterson et al., 2018; Rice et al., 2010; Roncoroni et al., 2019).

In this review coupled with an illustrative experiment, we summarize the current understanding of the flow-biofilm-sediment triangle and demonstrate how this threeway interaction and important ecosystem functions such as biostabilization can benefit from a co-application of measurement techniques from various disciplines. The intersection between scientific fields of hydrodynamics, biogeomorphology and microbiology is the theme of this paper. While we focus on flow-biofilm-sediment interactions with implications on fine sediment dynamics mainly in the benthic zone (first cm of the bed) of lotic and lentic environments, some examples from other environments (e.g., medicine) are also presented to provide a more comprehensive picture of the field.

2. Methodology

2.1 General approach

To address the flow-biofilm-sediment triangle and its effects on ecosystem processes with an emphasis on biostabilization (Fig. 1), a joint workshop (three-phase) was held in Stuttgart, Germany between June 2018 and February 2019, bringing together experts from Germany in the relevant areas of hydromechanics, microbial ecology, biochemistry and sedimentation engineering. The main goals of the workshop were i) to consolidate knowledge and identify knowledge gaps in understanding flow-biofilm-sediment interactions through expert discussions and pivotal papers and ii) to perform a pilot experiment to test and discuss how the identified knowledge gaps can be addressed by co-application of modern methods in the fields of hydraulics, sedimentation engineering, microbial ecology and biochemistry. The current knowledge and gaps to elucidate flow-biofilm-sediment interactions were discussed

in the first phase together with the design of the pilot experiment, and the second and third phases were focused on performance of experiments and review-discussion of the results, respectively.

2.2 Pilot experiment

During the pilot experiment, the capabilities of selected promising instruments and methods from different disciplines (shown in black font in Fig. 1) across various spatial scales were exemplarily demonstrated by their co-application on riverine biofilm samples that were quasi-naturally grown on fine sediment at contrasting (high bed shear stress ~0.04 Pa and low bed shear stress ~0 01 Pa) flow conditions in six recirculating flumes, each with dimensions of 3 m long and 0.15 m wide (Schmidt et al., 2015). The specific aims of this pilot experiment were (a) to test the applicability and limitations of the techniques applied and (b) to identify the spatial and temporal scales relevant to better understand the reciprocal interactions in the flow-biofilm-sediment triangle. For the latter, we summarize the various scales applied in different disciplines first (Fig. 1). Selected preliminary data from this pilot work focusing on young (21 days) and mature biofilms (90 days) were utilized in the context of current knowledge and methodological advances that exist in each of the relevant fields for this flow-biofilm-sediment triangle (Fig. 1).

2.3 Structure of the review

This review article provides an update on current scientific knowledge, practices and methodological approaches related to flow-biofilm-sediment interactions, including fine sediment dynamics and outlines how future studies can benefit from an interdisciplinary approach in order to better understand the flow-biofilm-sediment processes nexus. The review is organized into three parts. The first starts from the initial colonization to mature microbial landscapes, thereby focusing on heterotrophic

bacteria and microalgae (Section 3). The second describes the internal architecture, polymeric matrix, community biomass and composition of the biofilm as well as mass transfer (Section 4). The third discusses the mechanical properties of biofilm and biofilm-embedded sediments with specific regard to biostabilization (Section 5). In each of these sections, selected data from the pilot experiment was used to support the challenges and benefits of a comprehensive interdisciplinary approach. Finally, in Section 6, we present research gaps and research challenges in the relevant disciplines based on the condensed knowledge and experience gained during the workshop. Section 7 concludes the review paper.

3. A view from above: Mutual flow – sediment/biofilm interactions3.1 *Flow* - *Attachment* - *Colonization*

In aquatic ecosystems, the mostly turbulent flow is generated by an external supply of energy (e.g., gravity, wind, waves) at the macroscale (bulk) (Kolmogorov, 1941) but gradually passed on to the microscale experienced by the aquatic microorganisms. The hydrodynamic forces affect many aspects of microbial movement, attachment and subsequent biofilm development for which adherence/remobilisation, nutrient supply and metabolic waste removal are of utmost importance. Therefore, understanding the reciprocal interaction between microbial assemblages and near-bed hydrodynamics has direct theoretical and practical implications. Living and moving at the microscale (herein referred as single-cell scale), microorganisms are directly exposed to a local viscous flow characterized by low Reynolds numbers (Re <<1), which in turn interacts with the larger turbulent scales (Tennekes, 1989). Overall, like non-motile macroorganisms, microbes are at the mercy of boundary conditions controlled by the turbulence. While macroorganisms experience flow as an intermittent and chaotic motion, rapid fluid fluctuations appear slower and smoother to microbes that are smaller than the size of

the smallest eddies and thus, embedded within a single whirl of the flow (Wheeler et al., 2019). Nevertheless, most microorganisms are motile and thus, even at the microscale, self-propelling bacteria induce flow perturbations and create spatiotemporal chaos of the otherwise laminar flow. This swimming of a selfpropelling bacterium can occur as a random walk, one of the mechanisms being "runand-tumble" motion (e.g. for *Escherichia coli*). Apart from this individual locomotion, collective motion (e.g. chemotactic waves, swarming) of bacteria might take place (Lauga, 2016; Lauga and Powers, 2009). This behaviour might lead to long-range motions to impact velocity speed and direction (Bratanov et al., 2015), meso-scale turbulence characterized by vortex length scale (Doostmohammadi et al., 2017) as well as collective oscillation as centimetre-scale travelling waves (Chen et al., 2017). Thus, whether via passive (drift, downsweeps) or active (self-propulsion, buoyancy regulation) movements, macro- and microscale interactions between flow and microbes orchestrate together to influence the likelihood of surface contacts as well as detachment/attachment ratios (Characklis and Cooksey, 1983; Tuson and Weibel, 2013; Wey et al., 2009). For instance, it seems difficult for a microorganism to overcome the physical forcing when exposed to higher flow conditions (~0.08 Pa) resulting in delayed attachment as well as growth compared to low (~0.01 Pa) and medium (~0.04 Pa) flow (Schmidt et al., 2018). For further microbial colonization, flow again seems to be the most decisive factor since forcing may increase particle resuspension and light attenuation, limiting metabolic activity and establishment of photoautotrophs within the biofilm (Schmidt et al., 2018).

On the other hand, flow can be highly beneficial to biofilm development in order to maintain nutrient supply and the removal of waste-products. Decisive for these features is the so-called "diffusive benthic boundary layer" (DBBL), usually sub-

millimeter in thickness. Along with surface roughness, the usually turbulent flow above dictates the thickness of this DBBL where viscous flow prevails (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015). Accordingly, the DBBL represents the zone between zero velocity at the surface (no slip condition) and turbulent conditions within the water column above. Within this viscous DBBL, molecules are transported by molecular diffusion, driven by a concentration gradient between the bulk fluid and the surface. The diffusion coefficients (Dag) are specific for the molecules of interest, and along with the thickness (L) of the DBBL determine the transfer velocity (kL). Along with the vertical concentration gradient, the external mass transfer towards the surface of the substratum or the developing biofilm (kL (m/s) = Dag (m² s⁻¹) / L (m)) is quantified. This external mass transfer is decisive for the replenishment of nutrients or other molecules essential for further biofilm colonization, and the term is used to distinguish it from internal diffusion limitations that might occur within the biofilm (Stewart, 2012). As seen above, the external mass transfer depends on the thickness of the DBBL, which again is controlled by near-bed turbulence and the surface roughness of the biofilm-bound sediment (Nikora, 2010), but difficult to determine experimentally due to its thinness and inherent proximity to the bed surface.

While a growing biofilm under fast local flow conditions, which leads to a relatively thin DBBL with a strong concentration gradient, might be in a favourable situation regarding nutrient replenishment, the risk of immediate detachment or sudden sloughing-off is also enhanced (Zhang et al., 2011). Consequently, the impact of the turbulence has been described as a trade-off between shear forces and nutrient supply to influence the overall lifecycle of microbial assemblages ranging from attachment, colonization, and ongoing growth to dispersal (McDougald et al., 2012).

3.2 Growth - Topography - Flow

When the biofilm grows horizontally and in height, it changes the topography of the colonized substratum, rendering the previous surface properties redundant. At first, the biofilm disseminates across the surface to be colonized and the resulting spatiotemporal pattern depends again largely on the flow above. While a hydraulically smooth and more constant flow seems to favour isotropic microcolonies, multidirectional, fluctuating and varying flow velocities allow higher degrees of freedom for colonization (Rossy et al., 2019; Stoodley et al., 1999; Thomas et al., 2013). Hence, growing clusters at a hydraulically rough environment (i.e. turbulent at the roughness-scale) result in anisotropic, star-like structures that may optimize the exploitation of space (Hodl et al., 2014). This is consistent with the data from the pilot experiment, where it was observed that young biofilm featured isotropic growth while more elevated matured biofilm exhibited a preferred growth orientation in alignment with the flow direction (Fig. 2a). While gaining height, the biofilm can either smoothen a formerly rough surface by accruing the "valleys" or enhance the roughness by growing on "hills" to accentuate small differences in surface structure (Picioreanu et al., 1998; Stewart, 2012). In the first scenario, growth in valleys might be favoured since the troughs act as a hideaway to protect from hydrodynamic forces (Barton et al., 2010). The second scenario, the "fingered" biofilm growth, has been proposed to be due to a competitive advantage at flow conditions that impede nutrient replenishment otherwise (Nikora et al., 2002). Generally, hydraulically smooth flow conditions seem to promote the formation of filamentous or stalk-like structures that protrude out of the biofilm and experience a compressed DBBL with a higher supply of nutrients. This is in line with our workshop results on freshwater biofilm where low bed shear stresses (~0.01 Pa) allowed the development of thicker and more heterogeneous biofilm, with elongated filaments (so-called streamers) moving with

the flow. In contrast, medium stresses (~0.04 Pa) resulted in biofilm accumulating close to the surface and forming bungalow-type structures (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015).

Clearly, one way or the other, if given time, biofilm development changes the bed topography. In the pilot experiment, we measured bed topography by (a) scanning the area with microscope (Axio-Zoom 1.6) and (b) with laser triangulation system (e.g., Noss et al., 2018) where biofilm valleys and peaks are determined by measuring the reflected laser light that falls incidentally onto a receiving object and at a certain angle which depends on the distance of the object (here the biofilm). At the low flow conditions given above, increasing mean and RMS (root mean square) heights over the weeks of growth indicated a rougher topography, while increasing autocorrelation lengths (distance to a different structure) of the surface roughness reflected a more regular surface structure of biofilm (Fig. 2b). Hence, the mature biofilm in week 4 has a remarkably mountainous appearance (Fig. 2c). As compared to the initial conditions, the average biofilm thickness (1.92 to 3.74 mm) as well as surface roughness (0.46 to 1.97 mm) increased significantly along with a reduced flow regime (0.04 to 0.01 Pa), as previously modelled by Head (2013). This increase in roughness appears to (a) reduce the DBBL thickness, (b) increase the surface area and/or (c) induce near-bed flow field fluctuations such as micro-eddies by the protruding structures (e.g., Bishop et al., 1997). Thereby, the effective roughness mediates the friction (=resistance) forces in a way, well beyond the expectation arising from the physical appearance of biofilm (Cowle et al., 2017). Measurements of flow and biofilm growth across the 5 cm patch scale in our pilot experiment suggest a spatially heterogeneous distribution of the Reynolds stress (=total stress tensor in a fluid), which globally increases above the matured biofilm bed as

compared to the initial bare sand bed. The enhanced and varying peaks in Reynolds stress might result in recirculating eddies, turbulent wakes or turbulent bursts (packets of energetic fluid) that penetrate deep into the DBBL to impinge transiently on the biofilm (de Beer et al., 1994a). This way, the mass transfer towards (sweeps to enhance food supply) and out of (ejections to boost waste removal) the biofilm is positively enhanced (Bishop et al., 1997; McDougald et al., 2012; Stewart, 2012) up to a point where detachment and abrasion occurs (Zhang et al., 2011). In the extreme, e.g. smooth flow conditions, the biofilm might become depleted in metabolic substrates and enriched in metabolic waste (Stewart, 2012), while the opposite is true for biofilm growth at rough flow conditions (Biggs et al., 1998); known as the eutrophic effect of the flow.

- 4. Entering the microbial city
- 4.1 Architecture and EPS Matrix

Biologists developed an early interest in the architecture as well as in the chemical and biological composition of biofilms. Consequently, there are numerous papers dealing with flow-biofilm interactions from young to mature stages of biofilm development. In this context, it has been observed that biofilm matrix, architecture and species composition change significantly along with the hydrodynamics (Azeredo et al., 2017; Risse-Buhl et al., 2020; van Loosdrecht et al., 2002). Observations by several research groups congruently detail that biofilm thickness is inversely related to flow velocities (Graba et al., 2013; Paul et al., 2012; Pereira et al., 2002). Interestingly, biofilm mass follows this trend, but to a much lesser extent. For instance, Paul et al. (2012) reported for one biofilm type thickness reduction from 300 to 100 µm and mass reduction from 0.13 to 0.09 mg TOC cm⁻² when exposed to increasing shear stress from 2 to 9 Pa. Dreszer et al. (2014) showed elastic sponge-like behavior of biofilm being exposed to varying flow conditions (first three days at 20

 $L m^{-2} h^{-1}$, followed by an increase to 60 L m⁻² h⁻¹ and restoring back to the original flow). Their optical coherence tomography (OCT) measurements revealed that 50% decrease in biofilm thickness at higher velocity was largely due to the collapse of mushroom-like void spaces, while the biofilm mass remained the same (Dreszer et al., 2014). This not only proves the largely visco-elastic nature of biofilm, but also the variations in density of the biofilm matrix along with the flow conditions. By applying various levels of shear stress (from 0.09 to 13 Pa) on the surface of biofilm cultivation plates in an annular reactor, Paul et al. (2012) confirmed the significantly enhanced biofilm density (roughly about three times) with increasing shear stress. The investigations of Pereira et al. (2002) on single species Pseudomonas biofilm explained the possible mechanisms behind the observed changes in physiognomy: cells at stronger hydrodynamic conditions secreted more exopolymeric substances per unit volume while void spaces were reduced. The resulting thinner and denser biofilm seems to promote nutrient degradation rates and thus efficiency in wastewater treatment, but caution is warranted for the extrapolation to natural multispecies biofilm (Pereira et al., 2002). First studies in fluvial systems on epilithic biofilms confirmed these effects of turbulent flow on biofilm architecture; however, this was most pronounced at nutrient-rich conditions (Risse-Buhl et al., 2017). Furthermore, Fish et al. (2017) and Polst et al. (2018) attested as well significantly higher production of EPS carbohydrates and EPS proteins at a stronger hydrodynamic regime for biofilms in drinking water pipes and autotrophic stream biofilms, respectively. This was different compared to the results of our pilot experiment, which showed significantly higher carbohydrates content at the lower flow condition, but similar for proteins at both lower and higher flow regimes (Fig. 3). The studies are most likely incongruous since they address different biofilm communities (e.g. heterotrophic bacteria versus microalgae) with varying secretion pattern of polymeric

substances (Pierre et al., 2012; Vu et al., 2009). Moreover, there are some uncertainties as to the broad range of extraction and determination methods used (Delattre et al., 2016). Furthermore, the composition of EPS is highly variable and complex, thus challenging to characterize (Flemming et al., 2016; Frølund et al., 1996; Jahn and Nielsen, 1995; Nielsen et al., 1997, 1996). To the best of our knowledge, there are currently no studies on shifts in EPS quality (e.g., monomer composition, functional groups, structural elucidation) according to various flow conditions although it is eminent that components for structural integrity (e.g., amyloids, Zeng et al., 2015) might be more prevalent at higher flow conditions. That again, will be most likely determined by the dominating microbial species that trigger EPS secretion highly differently depending on their adaptation – an uncharted territory.

4.2 Microbial biomass and multitrophic relations

The effect of flow on biofilm biomass is environment-dependent and still inconclusive. While most studies in drinking water distribution systems reported increasing bacterial biomass with increasing flow velocity (Fish et al., 2017; Simões et al., 2007; Torvinen et al., 2007), the others from stream ecosystems showed the opposite for both bacterial and microalgal biomass (Battin et al., 2003; Besemer et al., 2007). Yet, the effect of flow on biomass and diversity of biofilms in streams appears to be season-dependent (Risse-Buhl et al., 2020), suggesting a modulating effect of varying physicochemical parameters and synergistic multitrophic interactions. In our pilot experiment, hyperspectral imaging and quantification of absorption peaks was used to map photopigments across the surface of sedimentary biofilms (Chennu et al., 2013). This technique can be used to non-invasively monitor the distribution and dynamics of chlorophyll *a* and other pigments at very fine spatial scales (Chennu et

al., 2015b) and flexible temporal resolution, providing a comprehensive view of the spatio-temporal evolution of photopigments in biofilms under interesting ecological interactions (Chennu et al., 2015a). The photopigment distributions in our measured biofilms of varying flow regimes, age and sedimentary grain structure (Fig. 4) indicated diversity in spatial structure, succession of new functional groups in older biofilms and represent a generally robust proxy for photosynthetic potential. While studies on pure-cell biofilms have indicated discernibility for diatom-specific photopigments (Fucoxanthin, Jesus et al., 2014), we could not detect this in our studied biofilms embedded in a scattering sediment matrix. However, recent optical modeling work provides promising developments towards fine-tuned applications (Launeau et al., 2018). Besemer et al. (2007), by addressing the community successions of stream biofilms in flumes, gave evidence of higher bacterial species abundance and microalgal biomass within laminar to transitional flow as compared to fully turbulent conditions. Schmidt et al. (2018) verified reduced bacterial cell numbers as well as microalgal biomass at stronger flow conditions, where both flow scenarios (weak vs. strong) were turbulent. Nevertheless, the effects of flow on microbial cell numbers and biomass might be as well of indirect nature. For instance, negative effects on microbial grazer densities (e.g., flagellates, ciliates) by flow potentially generates positive effects in biofilm bacteria as the latter are released from grazing pressure (Risse-Buhl et al., 2020; Wey et al., 2008). Environmental biofilms are in fact multi-trophic consortia including also protistan and micro-metazoan grazers besides prokaryotes and algae (Weitere et al., 2018) and it is this complex microbial cosmos that finally determines biofilm functionality (Arndt et al., 2003; Besemer, 2015). Therefore, we could get revolutionary insights into the microbial world by including the whole microbial web. In this regard, Risse-Buhl et al. (2017) has done pioneering work to address the interaction between near bed turbulence,

flow (ū) and biofilm composition, architecture as well as trophic structure in mountainous stream ecosystems. In this study, the abundance of filamentous autotrophs increased with near-bed turbulent kinetic energy (TKE) which most likely offered shelter to bacteria that remained unaffected in numbers by the increasing flow velocities. Bacteria further benefited from a reduced grazing pressure at faster flowing, more turbulent sites, since the abundance of heterotrophic protists decreased with flow. Results by Risse-Buhl et al. (2017) suggested that near-bed flow might impact the magnitude and direction of matter fluxes through shifts in the microbial food web - thereby possibly affecting ecosystem functioning.

4.3 Microbial taxonomy (by microscope and molecular techniques)

Insights into the microbial community composition have been traditionally gained my microscopic evaluation of morphological, taxonomically unique features (Clark et al., 2018). This classical approach is for instance common for the determination of diatom species that – by their appearance and certain requirements - are excellent indicators of different water qualities or various hydrodynamics scenarios. Graba et al. (2013) reported that epilithic biofilms at smooth flow grew much thicker, developed thicker filaments and accommodated multicellular growth forms of diatoms while biofilm at rough conditions were more compact hosting smaller, mobile and unicellular diatoms. This seems to confirm the progression of climax populations at low flow velocities that are subject to minor changes but undergo C-Selection (competition in terms of resources such as nutrients). In contrast, pioneer species dominate at high flow velocities where resources are available, but environmental forcing is strong to experience R-Selection (ruderal strategy to be adapted to disturbed habitats) (Biggs et al., 1998).

While these insights are very valuable on the microalgae level, addressing the occurrence of certain bacterial species requires metagenomics approaches. Nowadays, it has become possible to decipher the previously unprecedented diversity of biofilms using high-throughput technologies (referring to next-generation sequencing (NGS)). In terms of community composition, results of our pilot experiment of prokaryotic 16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid (rRNA) and eukaryotic 18S rRNA suggest varying responses of the prokaryotic (bacterial) and (micro-) eukaryotic ("higher" cells) species. Species diversity (number of species and number of individuals per species) was significantly higher at high flow condition (0.04 Pa) for the bacterial community while microalgal species flourished at the low flow (0.01 Pa). Additionally, bacterial species that are filamentous or well-known to have EPS-coding genes were more dominant at the mentioned high flow velocities (Fig. 5). This indicates clear shifts of the bacterial community as a response to the hydraulic regime. Few studies took it even further to the level of gene expression in order to reveal microbial responses to mechanical stress by shear flow, but this is so far restricted to the single-cell level (Persat et al., 2015; Thomen et al., 2017)

4.4 Mass transfer (towards, out of and within the biofilm)

The above briefly discussed biofilm architecture, EPS quantity, biomass and community composition is decisive for the mass transfer towards and within the biofilm. Mass transfer has implications for both, the resupply of nutrients and the removal of waste-products as stated earlier and is largely influenced by the hydrodynamic features. To follow the transport of dissolved molecules into and within the biofilm, mainly microelectrodes have been used so far (Beyenal and Babauta, 2013; de Beer et al., 2018; Sønderholm et al., 2017). For instance, vertical profiles of oxygen microelectrodes allowed the calculation of the DBBL thickness for oxygen

(depending on the flow conditions above) as well as metabolic activity (photosynthesis, respiration) and the resulting penetration depth and micro-niches within a biofilm or biofilm-inhabited sediment (de Beer et al., 1994b; Gerbersdorf et al., 2004; Jorgensen and Revsbech, 1985). Using oxygen microelectrodes in our pilot experiment, vertical profiles of oxygen concentration at the water-biofilm-sediment interface were recorded in the transition from light to dark (Fig. 6a). While oxygen peaks and concentrations within the first 5 mm of depth were clearly decreasing over darkness, the oxygen concentration below the photic zone never decreased to zero, indicating some advection. Based on the calculated photosynthetic and respiration rates, it could be stated that the metabolic activity was quite low in our system as compared to e.g. studies from intertidal flats (de Beer et al., 2005), microbial mats (Nübel et al., 2002) and alkaline lakes (Wieland and Kühl, 2000). That proves the unbroken popularity of microsensors to determine physiological responses and essential functions of biofilms at high spatial and temporal resolution. Some investigations took it even one step further to address flow pattern in situ within cell clusters or voids of single-cell or multi-species bacterial biofilm by tracking the movement of microscopic fluorescent particles with the help of confocal microscopy (de Beer et al., 1994a; Thomen et al., 2017). Other studies directly determined local mass transfer coefficients applying modified limiting current techniques (LCT) within the biofilm (Yang and Lewandowski, 1995). As a result, the non-uniformity of local mass transfer processes within biofilms became apparent by their large fluctuations that were explained by irregularities in biofilm microstructures comprising channels, voids and cell clusters. While diffusion was prevailing in cell clusters, liquid flow (convection and diffusion) occurred within the biofilm voids (de Beer et al., 1994b, 1994a; Yang and Lewandowski, 1995). Moreover, the flux from the bulk water into the biofilm was enhanced by the elevated biofilm structure being twice as high as

compared to a planar surface (de Beer et al., 1994b). With these valuable insights that can be gained at high spatial resolutions, it is not surprising that microsensor studies have skyrocketed in the last decades. Right now, mass transfer and local conversion rates of various molecules (e.g. N₂O, H₂S, NO₃, NO₂) can be determined by a large range of sensors to calculate the distribution of a suite of metabolic activities (de Beer, 2011). To give just one example, one of the more recent developments, the hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) microsensor, was applied in our pilot experiment. While photosynthesis produces H_2O_2 as damaging by-product, it is usually scavenged by catalase to avoid cell damage. However, bursts of H_2O_2 up to $100 - 200 \,\mu\text{M}$ were observed when the sensor tip touched a diatom colony – most likely a defence mechanism of these microalgae against predators that has not been noticed before (Fig. 6b). Again, this allows novel information on prey-predator relation and resulting functions at microscale level. In order to move on from the fragile micrometre-sized glass electrodes towards more robust sensors, macroelectrodes with sensing tips in centimetre range were developed as well as the simultaneous determination of molecules in two-dimensional arrays by optodes was pursued (Glud et al., 2000). These optodes based on luminescence quenching are superior to electrochemical sensors in many ways such as obstruction of the local flow field, hysteresis or cross-sensitivity (Kautsky, 1939; Tengberg et al., 2006). Still, there are new challenges associated like response time, drift, long-term stability in organic-rich environments and data processing (Bittig et al., 2018; Glud et al., 1994; Tengberg et al., 2006). Nowadays, both types, electrochemical and luminescent-based microsensors are pushed manifold. However, to particularly address biofilm-flow interaction is still rare (Glud et al., 1998; Kühl et al., 2007) but has unbowed potential to unravel links between morphology and functionality of biofilms.

5. Mechanical stability of biofilm and its inhabited environment as one essential ecosystem function

5.1 Biofilm functions for its inhabitants and for the ecosystem

As opposed to a single planktonic lifestyle, the biofilm offers high survival, persistence and reproduction potential to the embedded microbes (Flemming and Wuertz, 2019). On one hand, there is co-metabolism and an enhanced availability of essential resources, resulting in significantly higher metabolic activity. This has attracted extensive attention since it links to the important microbial ecosystem functions such as biodegradation, self-purification or drinking water provision (see Introduction and the references therein). On the other hand, protection from environmental stressors is a key factor for biofilm members. The EPS matrix controls material fluxes largely by its internal porosity and permeability that determine fluid flow conduits and their connectivity (Flemming et al., 2016). Since slow diffusion processes prevail and adsorption occurs, toxicants such as antibiotics or disinfectants may be intercepted in the outer layers of a biofilm, which also represents a huge problem in medical treatment (Bjarnsholt et al., 2011). All of that is possible by the cohesive and adhesive forces binding microbes to each other as well as to their substratum and conferring their overall mechanical and structural integrity that is largely impacted by the predominant flow conditions. Thanks to this stability, biofilm eventually colonizes all kinds of interfaces whether unintentionally (e.g., biofouling in pipes and on ship-hulls) or encouraged (e.g., in waste-water treatment, on membranes). Therefore, understanding mechanical properties of aquatic biofilms and biostabilization potential of biofilm-bound sediment have important implications not limited to aquatic ecosystems.

5.2 The challenges with biofilm-induced mechanical stability

Characterizing the mechanical stability of biofilm and biofilm-enclosed environments is thus of broad and significant concern, but remains a challenging task despite a body of work. Part of the problem is that, traditionally, it was attempted to remove biological effects, while nowadays, biology is often brought to the laboratory with little consideration of natural settings (Paterson et al., 2018). In this regard, laboratorygrown biofilm are often based on distinct microbial strains growing at conditions that are difficult to compare and often lack natural relevance (e.g. single-species biofilm and nutrient supply that do not occur in natural rivers (Vignaga et al., 2012)). When testing for the biostabilization effect in the laboratory, a range of engineering devices are applied that act at different size scales while addressing different forces (e.g. vertical jets versus horizontal bed shear stress (Vardy et al., 2007; Widdows et al., 2007)). Moreover, examination of erosion thresholds are more complicated in biofilmembedded sediments since they behave very differently compared to the traditionally used abiotic particle-size fractions (e.g., they erode in aggregates and chunks rather than in single-grain mode (Thom et al., 2015)). Last but not least, investigating development of biofilm over time requires non-destructive methods, but most approaches require bed failure to occur (Jonsson et al., 2006).

Overall, flow-microbe interactions and implications for mechanical stability of biofilm have received special attention since this process understanding might help to control (eradicating harmful or encouraging beneficial) biofilm by optimizing cleaning procedures (e.g., in drinking water pipes) or improving operational parameters (e.g., in rotating biological contactors). In the following, we will present a brief selection of such studies focusing on the mechanical strength of a biofilm in relation to flow from

single-cell level to bulk biofilm measurements in the range from several millimeters to several centimeters (Wagner et al., 2010b).

5.3 Single-cell approaches to determine adhesive forces

Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) has been widely used to determine the elasticity and adhesive capacity of single bacterial or microalgal cells linking the results to different cell surface biomolecules with implications to the initial stages of biofilm colonization (Wright et al., 2010). The AFM technique can be applied in a static or dynamic mode, measures in the range from piconewtons to several nanonewtons and allows 3D mapping of surfaces within a limited area (Boudarel et al., 2018). Since the technique has been widely used to study initial attachment, only few studies relate to reciprocal microbe-flow interactions that become most interesting in later stages of biofilm development. Lim et al. (2008) gave proof of the positive relation between morphological parameters such as surface coverage and roughness as well as flow rate in biofilms growing on glass beads within microfluidic cells. To shed light on the internal structure of biofilm, passive particle tracking microrheology (PTM) or active optical tweezer (OT) and magnetic tweezer (MT) techniques have been successfully implemented (see reviews by Ahmad Khalili and Ahmad, 2015; Azeredo et al. 2017). These approaches allow the determination of spatially and temporally varying adhesive strength as well as the quantification of shear stresses required for detachment while operating in the sub-piconewton (pN) to several hundreds of pN (<1 pN) range (Castelain et al., 2012; Picioreanu et al., 2018). Using MT as a more robust approach for actively moving cells, Galy et al. (2014) developed a 3D map of mechanical biofilm properties and demonstrated decreasing elastic compliance in *Escherichia coli* biofilms being exposed to increasing shear stress. This research provided valuable insights of the heterogeneity of biofilm showing

variations in shear compliance in the order of two magnitudes within close proximity (Galy et al., 2014). Again at microscale, microfluidics are an integral part in the study on mechanical properties of growing biofilms, often combined with microscopy to monitor biofilm formation during growth and biofilm deformation due to applied stress such as pressurized air or flow (see review by Karimi et al., 2015). Hohne et al. (2009) established such an approach to examine the Young modulus and relaxation time of two bacterial strains while imaging their deflection due to varying air pressure with confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM). Thomen et al. (2017) pursued the growth of *E.coli* to reveal the previously unknown bacterial strategy to settle in low shear stress regions before strategically expanding from these bases towards areas of high shear stress that were impossible to colonize before. Hou et al. (2018) applied attenuated total reflection Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy as well as CSLM to give evidence that the individual Staphylococcos aureus bacterium produced two to five times more EPS polysaccharides at high shear conditions as compared to low shear stress. That also extended to the entire biofilm as was shown by tribometrically measured coefficients of friction (CoF), confirming that EPS quantity is considered relevant for mechanical strength (Hou et al., 2018).

5.4 Structural visualization and mechanical strength at the mesoscale

While the microscale is certainly very important to learn about activities and functions of biofilms at high resolution, it remains difficult to extrapolate these insights to the dimensions of an entire biofilm (mm-cm range) which is of greater interest if it comes to flow-biofilm interaction and the resulting mechanical strength (Wagner and Horn, 2017). Knowledge on mechanical strength is needed to re-think anti-biofouling measures, to manage biofilm growth in technical systems such as bioreactors, membranes or drinking water distribution pipes or simply to better understand the

mode of action that is behind the effects recorded in biostabilization of sediments. Therefore, other techniques such as optical coherence tomography (OCT) or optical coherence elastography (OCE) (Larin and Sampson, 2017) which has a more holistic view on biofilm structure could be explored. OCT allows to work on this mesoscale in micrometer resolution and represents a fast, non-invasive, in situ imaging technique that gives depth-resolved structural information which does not require staining. Thus, employing near-infrared light allows deeper penetration into the biofilm in comparison to CLSM and does not need fluorophores that might interfere with local properties of the biofilm (Azeredo et al., 2017; Picioreanu et al., 2018). However, our own OCT measurements in the pilot experiment suggest that while surface topography is easy to image, it can be difficult to capture the internal structure as well as to differentiate between biofilm and sand particles. Still, OCT clearly visualized how the microbes filled the sand grain space with biofilm maturation (Fig. 7). In young biofilms, filaments were visible at the mentioned low flow conditions (0.01 Pa) while at high flow (0.04 Pa), the growth seems delayed again (Fig. 7). This influence of various flow scenarios in the initial stages of biofilm growth is expected to manifest later in variations in thickness, morphology as well as hydraulic resistance of the mature biofilm as has been revealed by other OCT measurements (Dreszer et al., 2014).

Exploring the usage of rotating disk electrodes (RDE), Boulêtreau et al. (2011) confirmed varying riverine biofilm thickness and elasticity that both were significantly higher at low flow conditions (0.1 versus 0.45 m s⁻¹ over 21 days). In contrast to OCT, RDE examines the biofilm as homogenous bulk material which is similar to the application of rheometers that are commonly used for studying viscoelastic material although being destructive (Boudarel et al., 2018). Biofilm comprises both an elastic

(or solid-like) and a viscous (or liquid-like) part that stores and dissipates energy during strain deformation. In our workshop, we also tested viscoelastic properties of young and mature biofilms using a rotational rheometer. Conducting dynamic tests in the oscillatory mode of the rheometer in our pilot experiment documented clearly the viscoelastic behavior of the biofilms at varying stages of maturity. Beforehand, some biofilm samples (young biofilm) were cultivated in situ on rheometer disks with the same substrate tested simultaneously with other devices, while other samples (mature biofilm) were transferred later onto those disks at termination of the experiment. Due to the roughness of the substrate, both sample preparation methods showed similar results even though the *in situ* growth has a clear advantage of ensuring an overall structural integrity. The recorded phase angle highlighted the strong dependence of the viscoelastic properties on the maturity of the biofilm. The results showed a low phase angle of $tan\delta = 0.16$ for the matured biofilm, indicating less viscous and more elastic behavior, while this value increased for the young biofilm to $tan\delta = 0.28$ (Fig. 8). However, no clear relation could be detected between the phase angle and the prevailing flow conditions, although the margin of the phase angle has been slightly larger for biofilms exposed to lower flow conditions (Fig. 9). For a more comprehensive interpretation however, it is necessary to link the results on rheological properties to structural features (e.g., streamers or flat biofilm) and chemical composition (polymer type) in future studies. Then it would also be possible to structurally explain stronger adhesion and lower detachment rates at higher shear stresses as it has been previously observed by recording stress-strain tests and creep-compliance curves in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm samples (Stoodley et al., 2002).

5.5 Erosion vulnerability and adhesive capacity in sediment research

As we can see from Sections 5.1–5.4, there exists promising work highlighting mechanical properties of biofilm in interaction with the flow at various scales (see also review by Araújo et al., 2019). However, none of the research includes the substratum, except for our presented OCT (Fig. 7) and rheometer measurements (Fig. 8) where biofilm grew on fine sand. This is, of course, different in sedimentation engineering where the erosive response of the substratum towards hydrodynamic forcing is central. However, biofilms were and sometimes still are neglected in this research field (Paterson et al., 2018; Righetti and Lucarelli, 2007). That changed some decades ago when it was increasingly recognized that biofilms are ubiquitously distributed and impact significantly the dynamics of the ETDC (erosion - transport deposition - consolidation) sediment cycle (Black et al., 2002). With the consensus on the importance of biostabilization, the portfolio of methods to address sediment stability has broadened. The classical approach in hydraulic research and engineering utilizes erosion flumes or chambers in which the flowing water eventually causes bed failure to occur (Aberle et al., 2003; Jonsson et al., 2006; Noack et al., 2015; Widdows et al., 2007). With growing interest in the biology mediating the erosive response, devices with smaller footprints capable for usage in the field were developed to pursue mechanical failure and sloughing-off at higher temporal and spatial resolution (Vardy et al., 2007). However, to follow-up gradual changes in the attachment and increasing cohesion of substratum by young biofilms, non-destructive methods with higher sensitivity were needed. Magnetic Particle Induction (MagPI) system has been developed to determine the adhesive capacity of growing biofilm at the patch scale with a small footprint, but large enough to get meaningful results on biofilm-embedded sediment stability (Gerbersdorf et al., 2018; Larson et al., 2009). Using 50% particle clearance, the MagPI indicated significantly lower adhesiveness

at low flow condition (1241 \pm 97 mA) as compared to high flow condition (834 \pm 59 mA) in our pilot experiment. This is in line with the results of Graba et al. (2013) who performed a sloughing test on 40-day-old biofilms and showed an inverse relation between the proportion of detached biomass and the average value of friction velocity during growth. The higher stability might be related to enhanced secretion of extracellular polymeric substances at high shear stresses as stated earlier (Brading et al., 1995; Fish et al., 2017). Whether or not this translates into a higher biostabilization capacity of the biofilm within the sediment at high flow regimes, is currently unknown (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015). In our pilot experiment, by investigating the erosion failure of the samples within the SETEG-flume (Noack et al., 2015), the critical shear stress necessary to erode the biofilm-sediment complex was 40-fold higher as compared to the bare sand (Fig. 9). However, there was no statistically significant difference between the two contrasting flow scenarios. This might be explained by the growing mode of these samples where the biofilm covered the underlying substratum like a carpet. Erosion often occurred suddenly at the edges of our sample holders, followed by a severe resuspension of the bare, unprotected sediment beneath the biofilm carpet, rather than indicating a true failure of the biofilm-sediment surface (see S1 and S2 for videos). The starting position of the erosion at the edges of the cartridges can be attributed to a sudden change in surface roughness upstream and downstream of the measurement location. Hence, while cultivating biofilms in special cartridges (Schmidt et al., 2015) or coupons (Singer et al., 2010, 2006) facilitates in situ and easier measurements using a multitude of instruments, it is critical for erosion tests to exclude unwanted effects of sudden roughness change. It is further deemed advisable to adapt Shield's-like erosion schemes to biofilm-embedded material (Shields, 1936; Thom et al., 2015).

6. The gaps in hydromechanics, biofilm and sediment research and lessons to learn

In biofilm research, the single-cell scale has been naturally favoured to decipher details on biofilm attachment, quorum sensing, morphology and/or detachment (Kim et al., 2016; Mukherjee and Bassler, 2019; Wheeler et al., 2019). As we have reported above, reciprocal flow-biofilm interactions have been experimentally explored within micro-fabricated channels that mostly range from micrometres to millimetres and analysed mainly by microsensors (de Beer et al., 1994a; Yang and Lewandowski, 1995) and/or imaging techniques. For the latter, Thomen et al. (2017) visualized the trail lengths of 1-µm fluorescent particles via microscopically derived zstack images in millifluidic channels. Magnetic Resonance Microscopy (MRM) is another promising method for the investigation of transport phenomena, which is capable of simultaneously imaging the development of flow field and biofilm structure in a non-invasive, less time-consuming way while covering quantitatively relevant areas (Gjersing et al., 2005; Manz et al., 2005, 2003). For instance, Wagner et al. (2010a) addressed the response of biofilm to various flow gradients and shear rates by scanning the flow field with MRM. Herrling et al. (2017) successfully elucidated water diffusion within five different types of biofilm structures by pulsed field gradientnuclear magnetic resonance (PFG-NMR). As Morgenroth and Milferstedt (2009) stated, "...a biofilm with a total area of 1 m² is not simply the sum of biofilm grown in 1,000 flow channels, even though the total areas roughly correspond." In order to study the effect of laminar, transient and fully turbulent conditions on biofilm, other laboratory studies (Morgenroth and Milferstedt, 2009) went up to the patch scale which is between several millimetres to centimetres. Collectively, these experiments gave essential insights into detailed processes of biofilm development at various hydrodynamic settings. However, their relevance for aquatic environments is still
largely debatable due to difficulties in reproducing natural conditions in the laboratory. Challenges include representing natural temporal and spatial variability of flow (single-cell scale to ecosystem scale) and biofilm (multitaxa and multispecies communities) or generating fully-developed turbulent flow conditions and irregular surfaces (e.g., mixed sediments, spatial heterogeneity of roughness) at the measurement section.

Ideally, biofilm should be grown in a most natural-like setting to allow a typical community composition and matrix structure at environmentally relevant flow patterns. Obviously, this might differ severely in simulating technical or natural habitats but in both cases, this requires experimental facilities that are beyond the small scale of the microfluidic channels. Despite increasing number of mesocosm studies, our understanding of near-bed flow dynamics is currently hampered by the lack of velocity measurements at the flow-biofilm-sediment interface (e.g., Nuy et al., 2018; Risse-Buhl et al., 2017). While the interactions between flow and biofilm occur predominantly at mesoscale (100 µm to 10 cm in vertical length), most studies concerning flow-biofilm reciprocity usually represent flow with a single (bulk) value for the entire channel either as a depth-averaged or cross-sectional average velocity (and discharge) (Moulin and Eiff, 2012 and references therein) or temporallyaveraged flow and turbulence parameters far above the bed (Risse-Buhl et al., 2017; Risse-Buhl et al., 2020; Singer et al., 2010), ignoring the heterogenous characteristics of the flow at local biofilm scale (µm to cm) and its dispersive contribution to mass flux. This can mainly be attributed to frequent use of acousticbased (e.g., acoustic doppler velocimeter or ADV) or magnetic field based (e.g., electromagnetic current meter or ECM) instruments in both laboratory and field studies, which have difficulties in measuring near-bed mean flow (<5 mm) and

turbulence (<10 mm) due to acoustic interference of the bed (Koca et al., 2017; Voulgaris and Trowbridge, 1998) and/or sensor size. On the other hand, applying hot-film anemometers, Biggs et al. (1998) demonstrated clearly the influence that the biofilm has on the close-by flow pattern 2 mm above its surface while there was no measurable effect to the far more uniform mean velocity of the mid-water column. Hydrodynamic fluctuations with local shear stress peaks are critical to mass transfer (Stoodley et al., 1999; Voermans et al., 2017), with important consequences for biofilm to modulate ecosystem health and services. This is particularly important for biofilms with streamers which oscillate with the flow and modulate mass transfer (Nikora, 2010; Larned et al., 2011). Ultimately, only local flow conditions are relevant to describe the forcing at microscale and are not easily inferred from mean bulk velocities (Graba et al., 2013). The introduction of modern, optical and non-intrusive techniques such as Particle Image Velocimetry (PIV) allows high resolution measurements of flow patterns close to the biofilm (~1-2 mm) in standard configurations. PIV is based on visualization and computation of the displacement of small tracer particles in a flow, captured by two subsequent images (see reviews by Adrian et al., 2011; Westerweel et al., 2013). Since it allows for both quantitative measurements at larger areas (few dm²) and visualization of flow structures, PIV provides physical insights into the behaviour of flow and biofilm interactions, thereby offering various advantages over traditional methods (i.e., ADV, ECM). Despite its costly and complicated setup, low-cost PIV systems have recently been developed for use in the laboratory (Cierpka et al., 2016) and in the field (Cameron et al., 2013; Koca et al., 'Unpublished results'). Thus, instead of following traditional single-point or vertical profile measurements, it is now possible and timely to characterize flow pattern near biofilm at high resolution (Koca et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the challenge remains to measure this at sub-millimetre scales in fully-turbulent, fully-rough and

fully-developed environments, which, unavoidably, must be performed in relatively large flow facilities on the several-meter scale for a variety of controlled flow and environmental conditions (Packman, 2013; Vignaga et al., 2013). Indeed, it would be desirable to describe scales small enough to include the viscous sublayer on the biofilm and grains while simultaneously capturing the full turbulent spectrum. Only then can the mechanisms behind biofilm growth and mass and momentum flux exchanges between biofilm and the water be elucidated.

Research on flow-sediment interaction has a long tradition in engineering science which is motivated *inter alia* by the huge economical aspect to maintain waterways and harbours for shipping as well as flood control measures (Voermans et al., 2017). Sediment dynamics from bedload such as rolling gravel to suspended load of fine particles is of uttermost importance for the hydrological, geomorphological and ecological functioning of aquatic systems including rivers, lakes, reservoirs, estuaries and coastal zones (Forstner and Westrich, 2005). Along with sediment properties, the hydrodynamic regime is decisive for the transport, deposition and finally spatial distribution of sediments. Hence, fine-grained particles such as silt and clay usually settle in low energetic habitat while coarser sediment deposit in areas of high energy impact where frequent collisions of sand particles ("rolling") occur (Van Rijn, 1993). This in turn impacts the settlement of microbes with a higher likelihood to develop in fine sediments since these small particles feature (a) a high surface to volume ratio, (b) offer plenty of binding sites to trap nutrients and (c) offer more protection for sensible shells such as diatom frustules that might be destroyed in rolling (Delgado et al., 1991; Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015). Mediation of fine sediment characteristics by the developing microbial assemblages then changes their erosive response to hydraulic forcing as described in Sections 1 and 5.5. While the onset of

motion of non-cohesive sediment particles such as sand or gravel is generally predicted by using the Shields diagram (Shields, 1936), there is no valid approach for fine cohesive sediment because of the biological features inhabited (Black et al., 2002). In order to better predict the behaviour of fine sediment and the often-associated pollutants at extreme (e.g., 100-year flood) or management scenarios (e.g., flushing), experiments have been largely performed in laboratory flumes with sediments that were retrieved and transferred from the field (Forstner and Salomons, 2008; Gerbersdorf et al., 2007; Haag et al., 2001). However, there are increasing efforts towards *in-situ* measurements in order to avoid unwanted changes due to transport of sediment from field to flume and sediment aging (Aberle et al., 2003; Noack et al., 2015; Witt and Westrich, 2003).

Overall, although fine sediments and their erosional behaviour have thus received increasing attention over the last decades with or without the consideration of biofilm, their link to the temporally and spatially highly varying pattern of hydrodynamics (e.g. TKE) and bed topography co-evolving with biofilm growth have not been studied yet (Gerbersdorf and Wieprecht, 2015; Hannah et al., 2004; Rice et al., 2010). On a much smaller scale, some studies addressed the sloughing-off phenomena of biofilm at varying shear stresses by measuring biofilm weight losses or the amount of eroded sand/biofilm mixtures (Grün et al., 2016; Pique et al., 2016). Consequently, future studies should further explore the flow-biofilm-sediment processes nexus in order to better understand biostabilization and sediment dynamics which have key implications for morphodynamics, aquatic habitat, water quality and beyond. This requires integrated investigations of hydrodynamics, biogeomorphology and microbiology. An example of such integrated approach was illustrated in this review paper combined with a pilot experiment. Based on the co-application of state-of-the-

art methods from different disciplines (black font in Fig. 1) on quasi-naturally grown biofilm-bound sediment developed at contrasting flow conditions, we have made following observations about advantages and challenges associated with the tested methods:

- Flow affects time of settlement, growth direction and subsequent topography of biofilm-bound sediment (Fig.2). In turn, the biofilm growth increased considerably the magnitude and heterogeneity of Reynolds shear stress (not shown here). While the measurements of spatially and temporally varying flow in combination with motion of streamers are still challenging, PIV may become a key method in studying natural flow-biofilm interactions at high resolution.
- Obtaining topography by scanning microscopy (Fig. 2a-b) was far too timeconsuming for larger areas, instead laser triangulation system showed similar results (Fig. 2c) in a fraction of the time previously needed and is thus an excellent choice for characterizing topography at patch scale (cm²-dm²).
 Microscopy is needed for higher resolutions at spatially limited spots in order to e.g., visualize key components of the biofilm (members and EPS moieties) by fluorescence signals.
 - With application of microsensors, we have observed bursts of H₂O₂ when touching a diatom colony, suggesting a likely defense mechanism of these microalgae against predators. Therefore, using microsensors, one can also gain insights into how microbes cope with friendly and unfriendly neighbours in their close surrounding (Figs 6 and 7). Microsensor measurements could be used together with PIV measurements and OCT images in analyzing the external and internal mass and momentum transfer by combining substrate distribution, flow dynamics and biofilm structure. Even though it is not tested

here, the application of MRM holds promise for studying internal and external diffusion and flow patterns.

- OCT is a beneficial imaging technique for characterizing internal structure of biofilm without disturbing or damaging the samples. However, since the probe depth is limited, it remains to be tested how suitable this technique is for analyzing biofilm-embedded sediment over depths larger than 2 mm.
- By biochemical and microbiological analyses, it was observed that quantities of polymeric substances play a minor role in explaining the mechanisms of attachment and binding (Fig. 3), suggesting the role of key microbial players and functions in biostabilization.
- By applying molecular techniques, we have observed significant shifts in species composition and diversity at both prokaryotic and eukaryotic level (Fig. 5). The link between functionality and diversity of key players is matter of ongoing debate in ecology (Besemer, 2015; Dang and Lovell, 2016; Leibold et al., 2004), and to bring this idea in biofilm research would be a great research concept for hypothesis building.
- Microalgae seem to play a dominant role in biostabilizing the sediment with impact according to the particular groups or species involved (Fig. 5). Thus, the possibility to monitor by hyperspectral imaging the density, composition and distribution of phototrophic biofilms (Fig. 4) creates a strong predictor for sediment stability and metabolic activity.
- While magnetic particle induction techniques is highly sensitive for measuring adhesiveness of biofilm-bound sediment at high resolution (< 5mm), it is restricted to measurements at the sediment surface. Furthermore, measurements are challenging if streamers are abundant. Until now,

determination of the stability of deeper layers has been limited to erosion flumes.

7. Conclusions

Recent advances in measurement techniques have provided a wealth of knowledge regarding individual domains of biofilm research, yet the understanding of flowbiofilm-sediment processes is still at its infancy. Studying flow-biofilm-sediment interactions are of importance to better understand ecological functions and engineering processes and to help establish healthy aquatic ecosystems. Most of the insights on the sediment-ecology relation derive from investigations on macroorganisms and macrophytes. This is surprising since microbes are the first colonizers to dictate subsequent colonization by higher trophic levels and they e.g. predominately affect the flux of matter on larger scales. Moreover, the link to the substratum in which microorganisms settle is mostly missing. Therefore, integrative and interdisciplinary approaches are needed that simultaneously and equally address the complex and non-linear ways in which sediment properties and biofilm interacts with the hydrodynamics at a scale of µm to cm (single-cell and patch scale) before extrapolating the theoretical knowledge to the larger scales for environmental management purposes. While field studies are essential, process understanding comes from controllable and repeatable conditions addressed in laboratory experiments which should cross disciplinary boundaries to avoid oversimplification and unrealistic settings (e.g., use of isolated species, inappropriate physical conditions, unconsidered wall effects or short test sections).

In this Review, we summarized the current state of the knowledge and methodological approaches in the flow-biofilm-sediment research with an emphasis

on biostabilization and fine sediment dynamics mainly in the benthic zone of lotic and lentic environments. Specifically, we combined a literature review with the results of a pilot experiment that was conducted in the framework of a joint workshop, with the aims of i) consolidating expert knowledge from different scientific fields, but all with the same goal directed towards flow-biofilm-sediment triangle, ii) identifying knowledge gaps and iii) exploring the feasibility of different instruments to address these gaps. In the pilot experiment, co-application of advanced methods with capabilities to visualize at cell-, micro- and mesoscales at high spatial resolution in controllable laboratory conditions has facilitated investigations into flow dynamics (Particle Image Velocimetry), bed topography (laser triangulation system and light microscopy), biofilm structure (optical coherence tomography), mass transfer (microsensors), microbial community (16s and 18s rRNA gene sequencing) as well as mechanical characteristics (rheometer) and biostabilization potential (magnetic particle induction and erosion flume). Based on the evaluation of feasibility of these techniques, we also provided research insights, methodological limitations, existing research gaps and future research directions that have potential to make important contribution to the field of biostabilization.

8. Acknowledgements

Funding: This manuscript was supported by the Ministry for Science, Research and Art of Baden-Württemberg, Germany [Az. 33-7533.-25-11/31].

9. References

- Aberle, J., Nikora, V., McLean, S., Doscher, C., McEwan, I., Green, M., Goring, D., Wash, J., 2003. Straight benthic flow-through flume for in situ measurement of cohesive sediment dynamics. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering-Asce 129, 63–67. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)0733-9429(2003)129:1(63)
- Adrian, L., Adrian, R.J., Westerweel, J., 2011. Particle Image Velocimetry. Cambridge University Press.
- Ahmad Khalili, A., Ahmad, M.R., 2015. A Review of Cell Adhesion Studies for Biomedical and Biological Applications. Int J Mol Sci 16, 18149–18184. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms160818149
- Allan, D.J., Castillo, M.M., 2007. Stream Ecology Structure and Function of Running Waters, Second. ed. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Aquatic Biofilms: Ecology, Water Quality and Wastewater Treatment By Anna M. Romani, Helena Guasch, and M. Dolors Balaguer (Editors) Caister Academic Press, Norfolk, United Kingdom (2016) 238 Pages ISBN No.: 978-1-910190-17-3 U.S. List Price: \$319.00, 2017. . Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy 36, 338–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/ep.12561
- Araújo, G.R. de S., Viana, N.B., Gómez, F., Pontes, B., Frases, S., 2019. The mechanical properties of microbial surfaces and biofilms. The Cell Surface 5, 100028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcsw.2019.100028
- Arndt, H., Schmidt-Denter, K., Auer, B., Weitere, M., 2003. Protozoans and Biofilms, in:
 Krumbein, W.E., Paterson, D.M., Zavarzin, G.A. (Eds.), Fossil and Recent Biofilms: A
 Natural History of Life on Earth. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 161–179.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-0193-8_10
- Azeredo, J., Azevedo, N.F., Briandet, R., Cerca, N., Coenye, T., Costa, A.R., Desvaux, M.,
 Di Bonaventura, G., Hébraud, M., Jaglic, Z., Kačániová, M., Knøchel, S., Lourenço,
 A., Mergulhão, F., Meyer, R.L., Nychas, G., Simões, M., Tresse, O., Sternberg, C.,

2017. Critical review on biofilm methods. Critical Reviews in Microbiology 43, 313-

351. https://doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2016.1208146

- Banasiak, R., Verhoeven, R., De Sutter, R., Tait, S., 2005. The erosion behaviour of biologically active sewer sediment deposits: Observations from a laboratory study.
 Water Research 39, 5221–5231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.011
- Barton, A.F., Sargison, J.E., Osborn, J.E., Perkins, K., Hallegraeff, G., 2010. Characterizing the roughness of freshwater biofilms using a photogrammetric methodology.
 Biofouling 26, 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927011003699733
- Battin, T.J., 2000. Hydrodynamics is a major determinant of streambed biofilm activity: From the sediment to the reach scale. Limnology and Oceanography 45, 1308–1319. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2000.45.6.1308
- Battin, T.J., Besemer, K., Bengtsson, M.M., Romani, A.M., Packmann, A.I., 2016. The ecology and biogeochemistry of stream biofilms. Nature Reviews Microbiology 14, 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.15
- Battin, T.J., Kaplan, L.A., Findlay, S., Hopkinson, C.S., Marti, E., Packman, A.I., Newbold,
 J.D., Sabater, F., 2008. Biophysical controls on organic carbon fluxes in fluvial
 networks. Nature Geoscience 1, 95–100. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo101
- Battin, T.J., Kaplan, L.A., Newbold, J.D., Cheng, X., Hansen, C., 2003. Effects of Current
 Velocity on the Nascent Architecture of Stream Microbial Biofilms. Appl. Environ.
 Microbiol. 69, 5443–5452. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.9.5443-5452.2003
- Berke, A.P., Turner, L., Berg, H.C., Lauga, E., 2008. Hydrodynamic Attraction of Swimming Microorganisms by Surfaces. Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 038102. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.101.038102
- Berne, C., Ellison, C.K., Ducret, A., Brun, Y.V., 2018. Bacterial adhesion at the single-cell level. Nat Rev Microbiol 16, 616–627. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0057-5
- Besemer, K., 2015. Biodiversity, community structure and function of biofilms in stream ecosystems. Res Microbiol 166, 774–781.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2015.05.006

- Besemer, K., Singer, G., Limberger, R., Chlup, A.-K., Hochedlinger, G., Hödl, I., Baranyi, C.,
 Battin, T.J., 2007. Biophysical Controls on Community Succession in Stream Biofilms.
 Appl Environ Microbiol 73, 4966–4974. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00588-07
- Beyenal, H., Babauta, J., 2013. Microsensors and Microscale Gradients in Biofilms. Productive Biofilms 235–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2013_247
- Biggs, B.J.F., Goring, D.G., Nikora, V.I., 1998. Subsidy and stress responses of stream periphyton to gradients in water velocity as a function of community growth form. Journal of Phycology 34, 598–607. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1529-8817.1998.340598.x
- Bishop, P.L., Gibbs, J.T., Cunningham, B.E., 1997. Relationship between concentration and hydrodynamic boundary layers over biofilms. Environmental Technology 18, 375– 385. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593331808616551
- Bittig, H.C., Körtzinger, A., Neill, C., van Ooijen, E., Plant, J.N., Hahn, J., Johnson, K.S.,
 Yang, B., Emerson, S.R., 2018. Oxygen Optode Sensors: Principle, Characterization,
 Calibration, and Application in the Ocean. Frontiers in Marine Science 4, 429.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00429
- Bjarnsholt, T., Jensen, P.Ø., Moser, C., Høiby, N. (Eds.), 2011. Biofilm Infections. Springer-Verlag, New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6084-9
- Black, K.S., Tolhurst, T.J., Paterson, D.M., Hagerthey, S.E., 2002. Working with natural cohesive sediments. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering-Asce 128, 2–8.
- Boudarel, H., Mathias, J.-D., Blaysat, B., Grédiac, M., 2018. Towards standardized mechanical characterization of microbial biofilms: analysis and critical review. npj Biofilms and Microbiomes 4, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41522-018-0062-5
- Boulêtreau, S., Charcosset, J.-Y., Gamby, J., Lyautey, E., Mastrorillo, S., Azémar, F., Moulin,
 F., Tribollet, B., Garabetian, F., 2011. Rotating disk electrodes to assess river biofilm
 thickness and elasticity. Water Research 45, 1347–1357.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.10.016

- Brading, M.G., Boyle, J., Lappinscott, H.M., 1995. Biofilm formation in laminar-flow using pseudomonas-florescens EX101. Journal of Industrial Microbiology 15, 297–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01569983
- Bratanov, V., Jenko, F., Frey, E., 2015. New class of turbulence in active fluids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112, 15048. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1509304112
- Burns, A., Ryder, D.S., 2001. Potential for biofilms as biological indicators in Australian riverine systems. Ecological Management & Restoration 2, 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1442-8903.2001.00069.x
- Cameron, S.M., Nikora, V.I., Albayrak, I., Miler, O., Stewart, M., Siniscalchi, F., 2013. Interactions between aquatic plants and turbulent flow: a field study using stereoscopic PIV. Journal of Fluid Mechanics 732, 345–372. https://doi.org/10.1017/jfm.2013.406
- Castelain, M., Rouxhet, P.G., Pignon, F., Magnin, A., Piau, J.-M., 2012. Single-cell adhesion probed in-situ using optical tweezers: A case study with Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Applied Physics 111, 114701. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4723566
- Chan, S., Pullerits, K., Keucken, A., Persson, K.M., Paul, C.J., Rådström, P., 2019. Bacterial release from pipe biofilm in a full-scale drinking water distribution system. npj Biofilms and Microbiomes 5, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41522-019-0082-9
- Characklis, W.G., Cooksey, K.E., 1983. Biofilms and Microbial Fouling, in: Laskin, A.I. (Ed.), Advances in Applied Microbiology. Academic Press, pp. 93–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(08)70355-1
- Chen, C., Liu, S., Shi, X., Chaté, H., Wu, Y., 2017. Weak synchronization and large-scale collective oscillation in dense bacterial suspensions. Nature 542, 210–214. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20817
- Chen, X.D., Zhang, C.K., Zhou, Z., Gong, Z., Zhou, J.J., Tao, J.F., Paterson, D.M., Feng, Q., 2017. Stabilizing Effects of Bacterial Biofilms: EPS Penetration and Redistribution of Bed Stability Down the Sediment Profile. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 122, 3113–3125. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017JG004050

Chennu, A., Färber, P., Volkenborn, N., Al-Najjar, M.A.A., Janssen, F., de Beer, D.,
 Polerecky, L., 2013. Hyperspectral imaging of the microscale distribution and
 dynamics of microphytobenthos in intertidal sediments. Limnology and
 Oceanography: Methods 11, 511–528. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2013.11.511

- Chennu, A., Grinham, A., Polerecky, L., de Beer, D., Al-Najjar, M.A.A., 2015a. Rapid Reactivation of Cyanobacterial Photosynthesis and Migration upon Rehydration of Desiccated Marine Microbial Mats. Frontiers in Microbiology 6, 1472. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01472
- Chennu, A., Volkenborn, N., de Beer, D., Wethey, D.S., Woodin, S.A., Polerecky, L., 2015b. Effects of Bioadvection by Arenicola marina on Microphytobenthos in Permeable Sediments. PLoS ONE 10, e0134236. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134236
- Cierpka, C., Hain, R., Buchmann, N.A., 2016. Flow visualization by mobile phone cameras. Exp Fluids 57, 108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00348-016-2192-y
- Clark, D.R., Ferguson, R.M.W., Harris, D.N., Nicholass, K.J.M., Prentice, H.J., Randall, K.C., Randell, L., Warren, S.L., Dumbrell, A.J., 2018. Streams of data from drops of water: 21st century molecular microbial ecology. WIREs Water 5, e1280. https://doi.org/10.1002/vrat2.1280
- Cowle, M.W., Babatunde, A.O., Bockelmann-Evans, B.N., 2017. The frictional resistance induced by bacterial based biofouling in drainage pipelines. Journal of Hydraulic Research 55, 269–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221686.2016.1212411
- Dang, H., Lovell, C.R., 2016. Microbial Surface Colonization and Biofilm Development in Marine Environments. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 80, 91–138. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00037-15
- de Beer, D., Stoodley, P., Lewandowski, Z., 1994a. Liquid flow in heterogeneous biofilms. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 44, 636–641. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260440510

- de Beer, D., Stoodley, P., Roe, F., Lewandowski, Z., 1994b. Effects of biofilm structures on oxygen distribution and mass transport. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 43, 1131–1138. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260431118
- de Beer, D., 2011. Microsensors for Sediments, Microbial Mats, and Biofilms. Encyclopedia of Geobiology 658–662. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9212-1 149
- de Beer, D, Wenzhöfer, F., Ferdelman, T.G., Boehme, S.E., Huettel, M., Beusekom, J.E.E. van, Böttcher, M.E., Musat, N., Dubilier, N., 2005. Transport and mineralization rates in North Sea sandy intertidal sediments, Sylt-Rømø Basin, Wadden Sea. Limnology and Oceanography 50, 113–127. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2005.50.1.0113
- de Beer, D., Meyer, V., Klatt, J., Li, T., 2018. Photosynthesis under very high oxygen concentrations in dense microbial mats and biofilms. bioRxiv 335299. https://doi.org/10.1101/335299
- de Brouwer, J.F.C., Wolfstein, K., Ruddy, G.K., Jones, T.E.R., Stal, L.J., 2005. Biogenic Stabilization of Intertidal Sediments: The Importance of Extracellular Polymeric Substances Produced by Benthic Diatoms. Microb Ecol 49, 501–512. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-004-0020-z
- Delattre, C., Pierre, G., Laroche, C., Michaud, P., 2016. Production, extraction and characterization of microalgal and cyanobacterial exopolysaccharides. Biotechnology Advances 34, 1159–1179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2016.08.001
- Delgado, M., De Jonge, V.N., Peletier, H., 1991. Effect of sand movement on the growth of benthic diatoms. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 145, 221–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(91)90177-X
- Demars, B.O.L., 2019. Hydrological pulses and burning of dissolved organic carbon by stream respiration. Limnology and Oceanography 64, 406–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11048
- Doostmohammadi, A., Shendruk, T.N., Thijssen, K., Yeomans, J.M., 2017. Onset of mesoscale turbulence in active nematics. Nat Commun 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15326

- Douterelo, I., Sharpe, R.L., Husband, S., Fish, K.E., Boxall, J.B., 2019. Understanding microbial ecology to improve management of drinking water distribution systems. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water 6, e01325. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1325
- Dreszer, C., Wexler, A.D., Drusová, S., Overdijk, T., Zwijnenburg, A., Flemming, H.-C., Kruithof, J.C., Vrouwenvelder, J.S., 2014. In-situ biofilm characterization in membrane systems using Optical Coherence Tomography: Formation, structure, detachment and impact of flux change. Water Research 67, 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.09.006
- Droppo, I.G., D'Andrea, L., Krishnappan, B.G., Jaskot, C., Trapp, B., Basuvaraj, M., Liss, S.N., 2015. Fine-sediment dynamics: towards an improved understanding of sediment erosion and transport. Journal of Soils and Sediments 15, 467–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-014-1004-3
- Falkowski, P.G., Fenchel, T., Delong, E.F., 2008. The Microbial Engines That Drive Earth's Biogeochemical Cycles. Science 320, 1034–1039. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1153213
- Fang, H., Zhao, H., Shang, Q., Chen, M., 2012. Effect of biofilm on the rheological properties of cohesive sediment. Hydrobiologia 694, 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1140-y
- Fang, H.W., Lai, H.J., Cheng, W., Huang, L., He, G.J., 2017. Modeling sediment transport with an integrated view of the biofilm effects. Water Resources Research 53, 7536– 7557. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017WR020628
- Fish, K., Osborn, A.M., Boxall, J.B., 2017. Biofilm structures (EPS and bacterial communities) in drinking water distribution systems are conditioned by hydraulics and influence discolouration. Science of The Total Environment 593–594, 571–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.176
- Flemming, H.-C., Neu, D.T.R., Wingender, D.J., 2016. The Perfect Slime: Microbial Extracellular Polymeric Substances (EPS). IWA Publishing.

- Flemming, H.-C., Wingender, J., 2010. The biofilm matrix. Nature Reviews Microbiology 8, 623–633. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2415
- Flemming, H.-C., Wuertz, S., 2019. Bacteria and archaea on Earth and their abundance in biofilms. Nature Reviews Microbiology 17, 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0158-9
- Förstner, U., Heise, S., Schwartz, R., Westrich, B., Ahlf, W., 2004. Historical contaminated sediments and soils at the river basin scale Examples from the Elbe river catchment area. Journal of Soils and Sediments 4, 247–260.
- Forstner, U., Salomons, W., 2008. Trends and challenges in sediment research 2008: the role of sediments in river basin management. Journal of Soils and Sediments 8, 281–283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-008-0033-1
- Forstner, U., Westrich, B., 2005. BMBF coordinated research project SEDYMO (2002-2006)
 Sediment dynamics and pollutant mobility in river basins. Journal of Soils and Sediments 5, 134–138. https://doi.org/10.1065/jss2005.08.002
- Frølund, B., Palmgren, R., Keiding, K., Nielsen, P.H., 1996. Extraction of extracellular polymers from activated sludge using a cation exchange resin. Water Research 30, 1749–1758. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(95)00323-1
- Galy, O., Zrelli, K., Latour-Lambert, P., Kirwan, L., Henry, N., 2014. Remote magnetic actuation of micrometric probes for in situ 3D mapping of bacterial biofilm physical properties. Journal of Visualized Experiments. https://doi.org/10.3791/50857
- Gerbersdorf, S.U., Jancke, T., Westrich, B., 2007. Sediment Properties for Assessing the Erosion Risk of Contaminated Riverine Sites. An approach to evaluate sediment properties and their covariance patterns over depth in relation to erosion resistance.
 First investigations in natural sediments (11 pp). Journal of Soils and Sediments 7, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1065/jss2006.11.190
- Gerbersdorf, S.U., Manz, W., Paterson, D.M., 2008. The engineering potential of natural benthic bacterial assemblages in terms of the erosion resistance of sediments. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 66, 282–294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00586.x

- Gerbersdorf, S.U., Meyercordt, J., Meyer-Reil, L.-A., 2004. Microphytobenthic primary production within the flocculent layer, its fractions and aggregates, studied in two shallow Baltic estuaries of different eutrophic status. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 307, 47–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2004.01.020
- Gerbersdorf, S.U., Wieprecht, S., 2015. Biostabilization of cohesive sediments: revisiting the role of abiotic conditions, physiology and diversity of microbes, polymeric secretion, and biofilm architecture. Geobiology 13, 68–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbi.12115
- Gerbersdorf, S.U., Wieprecht, S., Thom, M., Paterson, D.M., Scheffler, M., 2018. New insights into MagPI: a promising tool to determine the adhesive capacity of biofilm on the mesoscale. Biofouling 34, 618–629. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2018.1476971
- Gibbs, R.J., 1983. Effect of natural organic coatings on the coagulation of particles. Environ. Sci. Technol. 17, 237–240. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00110a011
- Gjersing, E.L., Codd, S.L., Seymour, J.D., Stewart, P.S., 2005. Magnetic resonance microscopy analysis of advective transport in a biofilm reactor. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 89, 822–834. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20400
- Glud, R.N., Gundersen, J.K., Ramsing, N.B., 2000. Electrochemical and optical oxygen microsensors for in situ measurements. In in situ monitoring of aquatic systems:
 Chemical analysis and speciation. In Situ Monitoring of Aquatic Systems: Chemical Analysis and Speciation 20–73.
- Glud, R.N., Gundersen, J.K., Revsbech, N.P., Jørgensen, B.B., 1994. Effects on the benthic diffusive boundary layer imposed by microelectrodes. Limnology and Oceanography 39, 462–467. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1994.39.2.0462
- Glud, R.N., Santegoeds, C.M., Beer, D.D., Kohls, O., Ramsing, N.B., 1998. Oxygen dynamics at the base of a biofilm studied with planar optodes. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 14, 223–233. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame014223
- Graba, M., Moulin, F.Y., Boulêtreau, S., Garabétian, F., Kettab, A., Eiff, O., Sánchez-Pérez, J.M., Sauvage, S., 2010. Effect of near-bed turbulence on chronic detachment of

epilithic biofilm: Experimental and modeling approaches. Water Resources Research 46. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009WR008679

- Graba, M., Sauvage, S., Moulin, F.Y., Urrea, G., Sabater, S., Sanchez-Pérez, J.M., 2013.
 Interaction between local hydrodynamics and algal community in epilithic biofilm.
 Water Res. 47, 2153–2163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.01.011
- Grün, A.Y., Meier, J., Metreveli, G., Schaumann, G.E., Manz, W., 2016. Sublethal concentrations of silver nanoparticles affect the mechanical stability of biofilms.
 Environmental Science and Pollution Research 23, 24277–24288.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7691-0
- Haag, I., Kern, U., Westrich, B., 2001. Erosion investigation and sediment quality measurements for a comprehensive risk assessment of contaminated aquatic sediments. Sci Tot Environ 266, 249–257.
- Hannah, D.M., Wood, P.J., Sadler, J.P., 2004. Ecohydrology and hydroecology: A new paradigm'? Hydrological processes 18, 3439–3445. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5761
- Head, D.A., 2013. Linear surface roughness growth and flow smoothening in a threedimensional biofilm model. Phys. Rev. E 88, 032702. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.88.032702
- Herrling, M.P., Weisbrodt, J., Kirkland, C.M., Williamson, N.H., Lackner, S., Codd, S.L.,
 Seymour, J.D., Guthausen, G., Horn, H., 2017. NMR investigation of water diffusion in different biofilm structures. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 114, 2857–2867. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26392
- Hodl, I., Mari, L., Bertuzzo, E., Suweis, S., Besemer, K., Rinaldo, A., Battin, T.J., 2014.
 Biophysical controls on cluster dynamics and architectural differentiation of microbial biofilms in contrasting flow environments. Environmental Microbiology 16, 802–812. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12205
- Hohne, D.N., Younger, J.G., Solomon, M.J., 2009. Flexible Microfluidic Device for
 Mechanical Property Characterization of Soft Viscoelastic Solids Such as Bacterial
 Biofilms. Langmuir 25, 7743–7751. https://doi.org/10.1021/la803413x

- Hou, J., Veeregowda, D.H., Belt-Gritter, B. van de, Busscher, H.J., Mei, H.C. van der, 2018.
 Extracellular Polymeric Matrix Production and Relaxation under Fluid Shear and
 Mechanical Pressure in Staphylococcus aureus Biofilms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 84.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01516-17
- Huiming, Z., Hongwei, F., Minghong, C., 2011. Floc architecture of bioflocculation sediment by ESEM and CLSM. Scanning 33, 437–445. https://doi.org/10.1002/sca.20247
- Jahn, A., Nielsen, P.H., 1995. Extraction of Extracellular Polymeric Substances from Biofilms using a Cation Exchange Resin. Water Science and Technology 32, 157–164.
- Jesus, B., Rosa, P., Mouget, J.-L., Méléder, V., Launeau, P., Barillé, L., 2014. Spectralradiometric analysis of taxonomically mixed microphytobenthic biofilms. Remote Sensing of Environment 140, 196–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2013.08.040
- Jones, S., 2017. Goo, glue, and grain binding: Importance of biofilms for diagenesis in sandstones. Geology 45, 959–960. https://doi.org/10.1130/focus102017.1
- Jonsson, P.R., van Duren, L.A., Amielh, M., Asmus, R., Aspden, R.J., Daunys, D., Friedrichs, M., Friend, P.L., Olivier, F., Pope, N., Precht, E., Sauriau, P.-G., Schaaff, E., 2006.
 Making water flow: a comparison of the hydrodynamic characteristics of 12 different benthic biological flumes. Aquat Ecol 40, 409–438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-006-9049-z
- Jorgensen, B.B., Revsbech, N.P., 1985. Diffusive boundary layers and the oxygen uptake of sediments and detritus. Limnology and Oceanography 30, 111–122.
- Karimi, A., Karig, D., Kumar, A., Ardekani, A.M., 2015. Interplay of physical mechanisms and biofilm processes: review of microfluidic methods. Lab Chip 15, 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4lc01095g
- Kautsky, H., 1939. Quenching of luminescence by oxygen. Trans. Faraday Soc. 35, 216– 219. https://doi.org/10.1039/TF9393500216
- Koca, K., Lorke, A., Noss, C., 2016. Field-deployable particle image velocimetry with a consumer-grade digital camera applicable for shallow flows.

Koca, K., Noss, C., Anlanger, C., Brand, A., Lorke, A., 2017. Performance of the Vectrino Profiler at the sediment–water interface. Journal of Hydraulic Research 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221686.2016.1275049

- Kolmogorov, A.N., 1941. The Local Structure of Turbulence in Incompressible Viscous Fluid for Very Large Reynolds' Numbers, in: Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR. pp. 301–305.
- Kühl, M., Rickelt, L.F., Thar, R., 2007. Combined Imaging of Bacteria and Oxygen in Biofilms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 6289–6295.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01574-07
- Larin, K.V., Sampson, D.D., 2017. Optical coherence elastography OCT at work in tissue biomechanics [Invited]. Biomed Opt Express 8, 1172–1202. https://doi.org/10.1364/BOE.8.001172
- Larned, S.T., Packman, A.I., Plew, D.R., Vopel, K., 2011. Interactions between the matforming alga Didymosphenia geminata and its hydrodynamic environment. Limnology and Oceanography: Fluids and Environments 1, 4–22. https://doi.org/10.1215/21573698-1152081
- Larson, F., Lubarsky, H., Gerbersdorf, S.U., Paterson, D.M., 2009. Surface adhesion measurements in aquatic biofilms using magnetic particle induction: MagPI. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 7, 490–497. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2009.7.490
- Lauga, E., 2016. Bacterial Hydrodynamics. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech. 48, 105–130. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-fluid-122414-034606
- Lauga, E., Powers, T.R., 2009. The hydrodynamics of swimming microorganisms. Rep. Prog. Phys. 72, 096601. https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/72/9/096601
- Launeau, P., Méléder, V., Verpoorter, C., Barillé, L., Kazemipour-Ricci, F., Giraud, M., Jesus,
 B., Le Menn, E., 2018. Microphytobenthos Biomass and Diversity Mapping at
 Different Spatial Scales with a Hyperspectral Optical Model. Remote Sensing 10, 716. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10050716
- Leibold, M.A., Holyoak, M., Mouquet, N., Amarasekare, P., Chase, J.M., Hoopes, M.F., Holt, R.D., Shurin, J.B., Law, R., Tilman, D., Loreau, M., Gonzalez, A., 2004. The

metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. Ecology Letters 7, 601–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00608.x

- Lim, J., Lee, K.M., So, H.K., Nam, S.W., Yoo, J.O., Hyun, S.Y., Jo, W., Oh, S., Kim, S.H., Park, S., 2008. Nanoscale characterization of Escherichia coli biofilm formed under laminar flow using atomic force microscopy (AFM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society 29, 2114–2118. https://doi.org/10.5012/bkcs.2008.29.11.2114
- Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Inchausti, P., Bengtsson, J., Grime, J.P., Hector, A., Hooper, D.U., Huston, M.A., Raffaelli, D., Schmid, B., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., 2001. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Current Knowledge and Future Challenges. Science 294, 804. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064088
- Madsen, E.L., 2011. Microorganisms and their roles in fundamental biogeochemical cycles. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, Energy biotechnology – Environmental biotechnology 22, 456–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2011.01.008
- Malarkey, J., Baas, J.H., Hope, J.A., Aspden, R.J., Parsons, D.R., Peakall, J., Paterson,
 D.M., Schindler, R.J., Ye, L., Lichtman, I.D., Bass, S.J., Davies, A.G., Manning, A.J.,
 Thorne, P.D., 2015. The pervasive role of biological cohesion in bedform
 development. Nat Commun 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7257
- Manz, B., Volke, F., Goll, D., Horn, H., 2005. Investigation of biofilm structure, flow patterns and detachment with magnetic resonance imaging. Water Sci Technol 52, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2005.0173
- Manz, B., Volke, F., Goll, D., Horn, H., 2003. Measuring local flow velocities and biofilm structure in biofilm systems with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Biotechnol. Bioeng. 84, 424–432. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10782
- McDougald, D., Rice, S.A., Barraud, N., Steinberg, P.D., Kjelleberg, S., 2012. Should we stay or should we go: mechanisms and ecological consequences for biofilm dispersal.
 Nature Reviews Microbiology 10, 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2695

- Morgenroth, E., Milferstedt, K., 2009. Biofilm engineering: linking biofilm development at different length and time scales. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 8, 203–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-009-9163-1
- Moulin, F.Y., Eiff, O., 2012. Biofilms, hydraulics and sediment dynamics, Critical Review of Ecohydraulic Experiments. HYDRALAB-IV Deliverable D7.1, EC contract no. 261520.
- Mukherjee, S., Bassler, B.L., 2019. Bacterial quorum sensing in complex and dynamically changing environments. Nature Reviews Microbiology 17, 371–382. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0186-5
- Nielsen, P.H., Frølund, B., Keiding, K., 1996. Changes in the composition of extracellular polymeric substances in activated sludge during anaerobic storage. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 44, 823–830. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00178625
- Nielsen, P.H., Jahn, A., Palmgren, R., 1997. Conceptual model for production and composition of exopolymers in biofilms. Water Science and Technology, Biofilm Systems III 36, 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0273-1223(97)00318-1
- Nikora, V., 2010. Hydrodynamics of aquatic ecosystems: An interface between ecology, biomechanics and environmental fluid mechanics. River Research and Applications 26, 367–384. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.1291
- Nikora, V.I., Goring, D.G., Biggs, B.J.F., 2002. Some observations of the effects of microorganisms growing on the bed of an open channel on the turbulence properties. Journal of Fluid Mechanics 450, 317–341. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022112001006486
- Noack, M., Gerbersdorf, S.U., Hillebrand, G., Wieprecht, S., 2015. Combining Field and Laboratory Measurements to Determine the Erosion Risk of Cohesive Sediments Best. Water 7, 5061–5077. https://doi.org/10.3390/w7095061
- Noss, C., Wilkinson, J., Lorke, A., 2018. Triangulation hand-held laser-scanning (TriHaLaS) for micro- and meso-habitat surveys in streams. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 43, 1241–1251. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.4310

Nübel, U., Bateson, M.M., Vandieken, V., Wieland, A., Kühl, M., Ward, D.M., 2002.
 Microscopic examination of distribution and phenotypic properties of phylogenetically diverse Chloroflexaceae-related bacteria in hot spring microbial mats. Appl. Environ.
 Microbiol. 68, 4593–4603. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.68.9.4593-4603.2002

- Nuy, J.K., Lange, A., Beermann, A.J., Jensen, M., Elbrecht, V., Röhl, O., Peršoh, D., Begerow, D., Leese, F., Boenigk, J., 2018. Responses of stream microbes to multiple anthropogenic stressors in a mesocosm study. Science of The Total Environment 633, 1287–1301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.077
- Packman, A., 2013. Building bacterial bridges. Nature Geoscience 6, 682–683. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1938
- Palmer, M., Ruhi, A., 2019. Linkages between flow regime, biota, and ecosystem processes: Implications for river restoration. Science 365, eaaw2087. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw2087
- Passarelli, C., Olivier, F., Paterson, D.M., Meziane, T., Hubas, C., 2014. Organisms as cooperative ecosystem engineers in intertidal flats. Journal of Sea Research, Trophic significance of microbial biofilm in tidal flats 92, 92–101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2013.07.010

- Paterson, D.M., Hope, J.A., Kenworthy, J., Biles, C.L., Gerbersdorf, S.U., 2018. Form, function and physics: the ecology of biogenic stabilisation. J Soils Sediments 18, 3044–3054. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-018-2005-4
- Paul, E., Ochoa, J.C., Pechaud, Y., Liu, Y., Liné, A., 2012. Effect of shear stress and growth conditions on detachment and physical properties of biofilms. Water Research 46, 5499–5508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.07.029
- Pereira, M.O., Kuehn, M., Wuertz, S., Neu, T., Melo, L.F., 2002. Effect of flow regime on the architecture of a Pseudomonas fluorescens biofilm. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 78, 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10189
- Persat, A., Inclan, Y.F., Engel, J.N., Stone, H.A., Gitai, Z., 2015. Type IV pili mechanochemically regulate virulence factors in Pseudomonas

aeruginosa. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112, 7563.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1502025112

Picioreanu, C., Blauert, F., Horn, H., Wagner, M., 2018. Determination of mechanical properties of biofilms by modelling the deformation measured using optical coherence tomography. Water Research 145, 588–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.08.070

Picioreanu, C., van Loosdrecht, M.C.M., Heijnen, J.J., 1998. Mathematical modeling of biofilm structure with a hybrid differential-discrete cellular automaton approach.

Biotechnology and Bioengineering 58, 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19980405)58:1<101::AID-BIT11>3.0.CO;2-M

- Pierre, G., Graber, M., Rafiliposon, B.A., Dupuy, C., Orvain, F., De Crignis, M., Maugard, T., 2012. Biochemical composition and changes of extracellular polysaccharides (ECPS) produced during microphytobenthic biofilm development (Marennes-Oléron, France).
 Microb. Ecol. 63, 157–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-011-9959-8
- Piggott, J.J., Niyogi, D.K., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015. Multiple stressors and stream ecosystem functioning: climate warming and agricultural stressors interact to affect processing of organic matter. Journal of Applied Ecology 52, 1126–1134. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12480
- Pique, G., Vericat, D., Sabater, S., Batalla, R.J., 2016. Effects of biofilm on river-bed scour. Science of the Total Environment 572, 1033–1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.08.009
- Polst, B.H., Anlanger, C., Risse-Buhl, U., Larras, F., Hein, T., Weitere, M., Schmitt-Jansen,
 M., 2018. Hydrodynamics Alter the Tolerance of Autotrophic Biofilm Communities
 Toward Herbicides. Front. Microbiol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02884
- Rice, S.P., Lancaster, J., Kemp, P., 2010. Experimentation at the interface of fluvial geomorphology, stream ecology and hydraulic engineering and the development of an effective, interdisciplinary river science. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 35, 64–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.1838

- Righetti, M., Lucarelli, C., 2010. Resuspension phenomena of benthic sediments: The role of cohesion and biological adhesion. River Research and Applications 26, 404–413. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.1296
- Righetti, M., Lucarelli, C., 2007. May the Shields theory be extended to cohesive and adhesive benthic sediments? Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 112. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JC003669
- Risse-Buhl, U., Anlanger, C., Chatzinotas, A., Noss, C., Lorke, A., Weitere, M., 2020. Near streambed flow shapes microbial guilds within and across trophic levels in fluvial biofilms. Limnology and Oceanography n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11451
- Risse-Buhl, U., Anlanger, C., Kalla, K., Neu, T.R., Noss, C., Lorke, A., Weitere, M., 2017. The role of hydrodynamics in shaping the composition and architecture of epilithic biofilms in fluvial ecosystems. Water Res. 127, 211–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.09.054
- Roncoroni, M., Brandani, J., Battin, T.I., Lane, S.N., 2019. Ecosystem engineers: Biofilms and the ontogeny of glacier floodplain ecosystems. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water 6, e1390. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1390
- Rossy, T., Nadell, C.D., Persat, A., 2019. Cellular advective-diffusion drives the emergence of bacterial surface colonization patterns and heterogeneity. Nature Communications 10, 2471. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10469-6
- Rusconi, R., Guasto, J.S., Stocker, R., 2014. Bacterial transport suppressed by fluid shear. Nature Physics 10, 212–217. https://doi.org/10.1038/nphys2883
- Salta, M., Wharton, J.A., Blache, Y., Stokes, K.R., Briand, J.-F., 2013. Marine biofilms on artificial surfaces: structure and dynamics. Environmental Microbiology 15, 2879– 2893. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12186
- Schiller, D.V., Martí, E., Riera, J.L., Sabater, F., 2007. Effects of nutrients and light on periphyton biomass and nitrogen uptake in Mediterranean streams with contrasting land uses. Freshwater Biology 52, 891–906. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01742.x

- Schmidt, H., Thom, M., Matthies, K., Behrens, S., Obst, U., Wieprecht, S., Gerbersdorf, S.U., 2015. A multi-disciplinarily designed mesocosm to address the complex flowsediment-ecology tripartite relationship on the microscale. Environ Sci Eur 27, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-014-0037-y
- Schmidt, H., Thom, M., Wieprecht, S., Manz, W., Gerbersdorf, S.U., 2018. The effect of light intensity and shear stress on microbial biostabilization and the community composition of natural bioflms. Research and Reports in Biology 8, 1–16.
- Shang, Q., Fang, H., Zhao, H., He, G., Cui, Z., 2014. Biofilm effects on size gradation, drag coefficient and settling velocity of sediment particles. International Journal of Sediment Research 29, 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-6279(14)60060-3
- Shannon, M.A., Bohn, P.W., Elimelech, M., Georgiadis, J.G., Mariñas, B.J., Mayes, A.M., 2008. Science and technology for water purification in the coming decades. Nature 452, 301–310. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06599
- Shields, A., 1936. Anwendung der Ähnlichkeitsmechanik und der Turbulenzforschung auf die Geschiebebewegung. Preussischen Versuchsanstalt für Wasserbau, Berlin.
- Simões, M., Pereira, M.O., Sillankorva, S., Azeredo, J., Vieira, M.J., 2007. The effect of hydrodynamic conditions on the phenotype of Pseudomonas fluorescens biofilms. Biofouling 23, 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927010701368476
- Singer, G., Besemer, K., Hödl, I., Chlup, A., Hochedlinger, G., Stadler, P., Battin, T.J., 2006. Microcosm design and evaluation to study stream microbial biofilms. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 4, 436–447. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2006.4.436
- Singer, G., Besemer, K., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Hödl, I., Battin, T.J., 2010. Physical Heterogeneity Increases Biofilm Resource Use and Its Molecular Diversity in Stream Mesocosms. PLOS ONE 5, e9988. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009988
- Sønderholm, M., Kragh, K.N., Koren, K., Jakobsen, T.H., Darch, S.E., Alhede, M., Jensen,
 P.Ø., Whiteley, M., Kühl, M., Bjarnsholt, T., 2017. Pseudomonas aeruginosa
 Aggregate Formation in an Alginate Bead Model System Exhibits In Vivo-Like
 Characteristics. Appl Environ Microbiol 83. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00113-17

Statzner, B., Arens, M.-F., Champagne, J.-Y., Morel, R., Herouin, E., 1999. Silk-producing stream insects and gravel erosion: Significant biological effects on critical shear stress. Water Resources Research 35, 3495–3506. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999WR900196

- Stevenson, R.J., Bothwell, M.L., Lowe, R.L., 1996. Algal ecology: freshwater benthic ecosystems. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Stewart, P.S., 2012. Mini-review: Convection around biofilms. Biofouling 28, 187–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2012.662641
- Stoodley, P., Cargo, R., Rupp, C.J., Wilson, S., Klapper, I., 2002. Biofilm material properties as related to shear-induced deformation and detachment phenomena. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 29, 361–367. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jim.7000282
- Stoodley, P., Lewandowski, Z., Boyle, J.D., Lappin-Scott, H.M., 1999. The formation of migratory ripples in a mixed species bacterial biofilm growing in turbulent flow.
 Environmental Microbiology 1, 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-2920.1999.00055.x
- Tengberg, A., Hovdenes, J., Andersson, H.J., Brocandel, O., Diaz, R., Hebert, D., Arnerich, T., Huber, C., Körtzinger, A., Khripounoff, A., Rey, F., Rönning, C., Schimanski, J., Sommer, S., Stangelmayer, A., 2006. Evaluation of a lifetime-based optode to measure oxygen in aquatic systems. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 4, 7–17. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2006.4.7

Tennekes, H., 1989. A First Course in Turbulence. Butterworth.

- Thom, M., Schmidt, H., Gerbersdorf, S.U., Wieprecht, S., 2015. Seasonal biostabilization and erosion behavior of fluvial biofilms under different hydrodynamic and light conditions.
 International Journal of Sediment Research 30, 273–284.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsrc.2015.03.015
- Thomas, K., Herminghaus, S., Porada, H., Goehring, L., 2013. Formation of Kinneyia via shear-induced instabilities in microbial mats. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal

Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 371, 20120362. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2012.0362

- Thomen, P., Robert, J., Monmeyran, A., Bitbol, A.-F., Douarche, C., Henry, N., 2017.
 Bacterial biofilm under flow: First a physical struggle to stay, then a matter of breathing. PLOS ONE 12, e0175197. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175197
- Tolker-Nielsen, T., 2015. Biofilm Development. Microbiology Spectrum 3. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.MB-0001-2014
- Torvinen, E., Lehtola, M.J., Martikainen, P.J., Miettinen, I.T., 2007. Survival of
 Mycobacterium avium in Drinking Water Biofilms as Affected by Water Flow Velocity,
 Availability of Phosphorus, and Temperature. Appl Environ Microbiol 73, 6201–6207.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00828-07
- Tuson, H.H., Weibel, D.B., 2013. Bacteria–surface interactions. Soft Matter 9, 4368–4380. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3SM27705D
- van Loosdrecht, M.C.M., Heijnen, J.J., Eberl, H., Kreft, J., Picioreanu, C., 2002. Mathematical modelling of biofilm structures. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 81, 245– 256. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020527020464
- Van Rijn, L.C., 1993. Principles of sediment transport in rivers, estuaries and coastal seas. Delft Hydraulics, Universiteit Utrecht, Aqua Publications.
- Vardy, S., Saunders, J.E., Tolhurst, T.J., Davies, P.A., Paterson, D.M., 2007. Calibration of the high-pressure cohesive strength meter (CSM). Continental Shelf Research 27, 1190–1199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2006.01.022
- Vignaga, E., Haynes, H., Sloan, W.T., 2012. Quantifying the tensile strength of microbial mats grown over noncohesive sediments. Biotechnology and bioengineering 109, 1155–1164. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.24401
- Vignaga, E., Sloan, D.M., Luo, X., Haynes, H., Phoenix, V.R., Sloan, W.T., 2013. Erosion of biofilm-bound fluvial sediments. Nature Geoscience 6, 770–774. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1891

- Vijsel, R.C. van de, Belzen, J. van, Bouma, T.J., Wal, D. van der, Cusseddu, V., Purkis, S.J., Rietkerk, M., Koppel, J. van de, 2020. Estuarine biofilm patterns: Modern analogues for Precambrian self-organization. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 45, 1141–1154. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.4783
- Voermans, J.J., Ghisalberti, M., Ivey, G.N., 2017. The variation of flow and turbulence across the sediment–water interface. Journal of Fluid Mechanics 824, 413–437. https://doi.org/10.1017/jfm.2017.345
- Voulgaris, G., Trowbridge, J.H., 1998. Evaluation of the Acoustic Doppler Velocimeter (ADV) for Turbulence Measurements*. J. Atmos. Oceanic Technol. 15, 272–289. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0426(1998)015<0272:EOTADV>2.0.CO;2
- Vu, B., Chen, M., Crawford, R.J., Ivanova, E.P., 2009. Bacterial Extracellular Polysaccharides Involved in Biofilm Formation. Molecules 14, 2535–2554. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules14072535
- Wagner, M., Horn, H., 2017. Optical coherence tomography in biofilm research: A comprehensive review. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 114, 1386–1402. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26283
- Wagner, M., Manz, B., Volke, F., Neu, T.R., Horn, H., 2010a. Online assessment of biofilm development, sloughing and forced detachment in tube reactor by means of magnetic resonance microscopy. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 107, 172–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22784
- Wagner, M., Taherzadeh, D., Haisch, C., Horn, H., 2010b. Investigation of the mesoscale structure and volumetric features of biofilms using optical coherence tomography.
 Biotechnol. Bioeng. 107, 844–853. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22864
- Weitere, M., Erken, M., Majdi, N., Arndt, H., Norf, H., Reinshagen, M., Traunspurger, W.,
 Walterscheid, A., Wey, J.K., 2018. The food web perspective on aquatic biofilms.
 Ecological Monographs 88, 543–559. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1315

- West, S.A., Diggle, S.P., Buckling, A., Gardner, A., Griffin, A.S., 2007. The Social Lives of Microbes. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 38, 53–77. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206.095740
- Westerweel, J., Elsinga, G.E., Adrian, R.J., 2013. Particle Image Velocimetry for Complex and Turbulent Flows. Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics 45, 409–436. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-fluid-120710-101204
- Wey, J.K., Norf, H., Arndt, H., Weitere, M., 2009. Role of dispersal in shaping communities of ciliates and heterotrophic flagellates within riverine biofilms. Limnology and Oceanography 54, 1615–1626. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.5.1615
- Wey, J.K., Scherwass, A., Norf, H., Arndt, H., Weitere, M., 2008. Effects of protozoan grazing within river biofilms under semi-natural conditions. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 52, 283–296. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01236
- Wheeler, J.D., Secchi, E., Rusconi, R., Stocker, R., 2019. Not Just Going with the Flow: The Effects of Fluid Flow on Bacteria and Plankton. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 35, 213–237. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100818-125119
- Widdows, J., Friend, P.L., Bale, A.J., Brinsley, M.D., Pope, N.D., Thompson, C.E.L., 2007.
 Inter-comparison between five devices for determining erodability of intertidal sediments. Continental Shelf Research, Natural Coastal Mechanisms Flume and Field Experiments on Links between Biology, Sediments and Flow 27, 1174–1189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2005.10.006
- Wieland, A., Kühl, M., 2000. Irradiance and temperature regulation of oxygenic
 photosynthesis and O2 consumption in a hypersaline cyanobacterial mat (Solar Lake,
 Egypt). Marine Biology 137, 71–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270000331
- Wilhelm, L., Besemer, K., Fasching, C., Urich, T., Singer, G.A., Quince, C., Battin, T.J., 2014.
 Rare but active taxa contribute to community dynamics of benthic biofilms in glacierfed streams. Environmental Microbiology 16, 2514–2524.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12392

- Witt, O., Westrich, B., 2003. Quantification of erosion rates for undisturbed contaminated cohesive sediment cores by image analysis. Hydrobiologia 494, 271–276. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025495122246
- Woodcock, S., Besemer, K., Battin, T.J., Curtis, T.P., Sloan, W.T., 2013. Modelling the effects of dispersal mechanisms and hydrodynamic regimes upon the structure of microbial communities within fluvial biofilms. Environmental Microbiology 15, 1216– 1225. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12055
- Wright, C.J., Shah, M.K., Powell, L.C., Armstrong, I., 2010. Application of AFM from microbial cell to biofilm. Scanning 32, 134–149. https://doi.org/10.1002/sca.20193
- Yallop, M.L., de Winder, B., Paterson, D.M., Stal, L.J., 1994. Comparative structure, primary production and biogenic stabilization of cohesive and non-cohesive marine sediments inhabited by microphytobenthos. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 39, 565–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7714(06)80010-7
- Yang, S., Lewandowski, Z., 1995. Measurement of local mass transfer coefficient in biofilms. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 48, 737–744. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260480623
- Zeglin, L.H., 2015. Stream microbial diversity in response to environmental changes: review and synthesis of existing research. Front Microbiol 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00454
- Zeng, G., Vad, B.S., Dueholm, M.S., Christiansen, G., Nilsson, M., Tolker-Nielsen, T., Nielsen, P.H., Meyer, R.L., Otzen, D.E., 2015. Functional bacterial amyloid increases Pseudomonas biofilm hydrophobicity and stiffness. Front Microbiol 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01099
- Zhang, L., Shen, T., Cheng, Y., Zhao, T., Li, L., Qi, P., 2020. Temporal and spatial variations in the bacterial community composition in Lake Bosten, a large, brackish lake in China. Scientific Reports 10, 304. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-57238-5
- Zhang, W., Sileika, T.S., Chen, C., Liu, Y., Lee, J., Packman, A.I., 2011. A novel planar flow cell for studies of biofilm heterogeneity and flow-biofilm interactions. Biotechnol Bioeng 108, 2571–2582. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.23234



Color code and list of abbreviations: Black: Methods applied in the pilot experiment; Grey: Methods available, but not applied in the pilot experiment. ADV: acoustic Doppler velocimetry, AFM: Atomic force microscopy, ARISA: Automated Ribosomal Intergenic Spacer Analysis, CLSM: Confocal laser scanning microscopy, CM: Current meter, LM: Light microscopy, NGS: Next generation sequencing, OCT: Optical coherence tomography, PG: Pressure gauge, PIV: Particle image velocimetry, MagPI: Magnetic particle induction, SETEG: Strömungskanal zur Ermittlung der tiefenabhängigen Erosionsstabilität von Gewässersedimenten, SIP: Stable isotope probing, EPS: Extracellular polymeric substa ces, ETDC: Erosion, Transport, depo ion and co

Fig. 1: How to investigate the interactions of flow-biofilm-sediment. Addressing various scales and applying appropriate techniques used in different disciplines. This figure is the result of a knowledge consolidation exercise through expert discussions during the joint workshop that was held between June 2018 and February 2019 in Stuttgart. Accordingly, the instruments reported in black font were employed in our pilot experiment as a contribution to this review paper.







(C)

Fig. 2: Comparison of biofilm growth at different stages of development in the pilot experiment. (A) Young biofilm surface (black line) exhibits isotropic properties (81%) without any directional properties while mature biofilm surface (red line) shows anisotropic properties (17%) with a preferred orientation along with the flow direction. (B) Biofilm topography changes over the weeks followed by light microscopy (LM). (C) Mountainous appearance of mature biofilm after 4-week growth scanned by laser triangulation (LS) system.



Fig. 3: Water-extractable (colloidal) extracellular polymeric substances EPS concentrations over time. Indicated are carbohydrates (green) and proteins (blue) at high (dark colours) and low (light colours) flow conditions.

Age: young | Grain: fine Age: young | Grain: medium Age: mature | Grain: fine Age: mature | Grain: medium 5 Flow: low Flow: high Age: young | Grain: fine Age: young | Grain: medium Age: mature | Grain: fine Age: mature | Grain: medium 1.0 Chl-a (norm) 0.0 Flow: low Flow: low Flow: low Age: young Age: young Age: mature Grain: fine Grain: medium Grain: fine Grain: medium Flow: high Age: young Grain: fine Flow: high Age: young Grain: medium Flow: high Age: mature Grain: fine Flow: high Age: mature Grain: medium

٠



Journal Pre-proof
Fig. 4: Photopigment distributions derived from hyperspectral imaging. Monitored is the surface of sedimentary biofilms under various flow conditions, biofilm maturity (age) and sediment grain structure (see panel edge labels). Each condition shows the natural (true color) view of the surface alongside a false-color composite of the abundance of ChI a (in red) and Phycoerythrocyanin (in blue), with a common colormap scale for each pigment across all abundance maps. The ChI a abundance was calculated using the log-corrected MPBI centered at 675 nm (see reference in text: Chennu et al., 2013), and represents a proxy for photosynthetic biomass in the biofilm. Phycocyanin abundance was calculated using second derivative at 625 nm (see reference in text: Chennu et al., 2015a), but was not shown as it correlated completely with ChI-A map. The Phycoerythrocyanin abundance was calculated using second derivative at 575 nm, and was generally patchy across the surface but with higher values in the fine-grained sediment. The spatial patterns of ChI a was heterogeneous at n esoscales, but showed a directionality (perpendicular to flow) in young biofilms in medium-grained sediment under high flow velocities. The statistical distribution of the ChI a values from the ~1.2 million pixels in each abundance map is shown in the lower panel, indicating that age of the biofilm was the primary correlation to ChI a level, with values slightly lower for coarser sediments.

71

J



Fig. 5: Molecular Fingerprinting of the community composition. Next Generation Sequencing NGS of 16S rRNA (prokaryotic organisms). Groups of individuals that are genetically closely related are organized in OTUs (operational taxonomic units) for the high (=H) flow conditions (left) and the low (=L) flow conditions (right).





Fig. 6: Microsensor Profiles. (A) Oxygen respiration rates determined by subsequent oxygen profiles in transition from light to dark. (B) Hydrogen peroxide burst after touching a diatom colony with the sensor tip.







Fig. 7: Optical coherence tomography OCT images. Sand grains embedded by biofilm showing young growing biofilm with filamentous structure at low flow (above) and delayed attachment at high flow (below).



Fig. 8: Rheometer Measurements. Phase angles of the mature and young biofilm samples measured by rheometer under low flow conditions





JUN

Fig. 9: Erodibility tests. Biofilm-sediment complex is exposed to increasing shear stress in the erosion flume SETEG (Strömungskanal zur Ermittlung der tiefenabhängigen Erosionsstabilität von Gewässersedimenten). Left is the bare sand that acts as the control (critical shear stress: 0.3 Pa), right is the mature biofilm after 6 weeks of growth (critical shear stress: 12 Pa after failure at the edges). Please see also S1 and S2 videos in the supplementary material.

Declaration of interests

 \boxtimes The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

□ The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests:

